
UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended May 31, 2021
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Transition Period From _______to _______

Commission File Number
001-36759

WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 47-1758322
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

108 Wilmot Road, Deerfield, Illinois 60015
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(847) 315-3700
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)
__________________________________________

Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.01 par value WBA The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

3.600% Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. notes due 2025 WBA25 The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
2.125% Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. notes due 2026 WBA26 The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the
past 90 days.         Yes  ☑      No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).
                             Yes ☑     No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging
growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2
of the Exchange Act. 
Large accelerated filer ☑ Accelerated filer ☐
Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).     Yes ☐      No ☑

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s Common Stock, $0.01 par value, as of June 30, 2021 was 864,987,306.

- 1 -



Table of Contents

WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC.

FORM 10-Q FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED MAY 31, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 Item 1. Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements (Unaudited)
  a) Balance Sheets 3
  b) Statements of Equity 5
  c) Statements of Earnings 7
  d) Statements of Comprehensive Income 8
  e) Statements of Cash Flows 9
  f) Notes to Financial Statements 10
 Item 2. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations 40

a) Introduction and Segments 40
b) Recent Developments 40
c) Factors Affecting Our Results and Comparability 41
d) Transformational Cost Management Program 42
e) Investment in AmerisourceBergen 45
f) Executive Summary 46
g) Results of Operations by Segments 48
h) Non-GAAP Measures 54
i) Liquidity and Capital Resources 59
j) Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements 64

 Item 3. Quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk 66
 Item 4. Controls and procedures 67

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 Item 1. Legal proceedings 68
 Item 1A. Risk factors 68
 Item 2. Unregistered sales of equity securities and use of proceeds 68

Item 5. Other information 69
 Item 6. Exhibits 69

WBA Q3 2021 Form 10-Q 2



Table of Contents

WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions, except shares and per share amounts)

 May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020
Assets   
Current assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,345 $ 469 
Accounts receivable, net 5,153 4,110 
Inventories 8,333 7,917 
Other current assets 680 598 
Assets of discontinued operations - current (see note 2) 11,097 4,979 

Total current assets 26,607 18,073 
Non-current assets:  

Property, plant and equipment, net 12,450 12,796 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 21,874 21,453 
Goodwill 12,493 12,013 
Intangible assets, net 10,435 10,072 
Equity method investments (see note 6) 6,778 7,204 
Other non-current assets 1,282 581 
Assets of discontinued operations - non-current (see note 2) — 4,983 

Total non-current assets 65,313 69,101 
Total assets $ 91,920 $ 87,174 

Liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest and equity   
Current liabilities:   

Short-term debt $ 7,963 $ 3,265 
Trade accounts payable (see note 17) 11,290 10,145 
Operating lease obligations 2,327 2,358 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 6,632 5,861 
Income taxes 71 95 
Liabilities of discontinued operations - current (see note 2) 6,191 5,347 

Total current liabilities 34,475 27,070 
Non-current liabilities:   

Long-term debt 7,732 12,203 
Operating lease obligations 22,088 21,765 
Deferred income taxes 1,309 1,367 
Other non-current liabilities 3,410 3,222 
Liabilities of discontinued operations - non-current (see note 2) — 412 

Total non-current liabilities 34,539 38,968 
Commitments and contingencies (see note 11)
Total liabilities 69,014 66,038 
Redeemable noncontrolling interest 310 — 

The accompanying notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions, except shares and per share amounts)

May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020
Equity:

Preferred stock $.01 par value; authorized 32 million shares, none issued — — 
Common stock $.01 par value; authorized 3.2 billion shares; issued 1,172,513,618 at May 31, 2021 and
August 31, 2020 12 12 
Paid-in capital 10,971 10,761 
Retained earnings 34,908 34,210 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,180) (3,771)
Treasury stock, at cost; 307,631,219 shares at May 31, 2021 and 306,910,099 shares at August 31, 2020 (20,610) (20,575)

Total Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. shareholders’ equity 22,101 20,637 
Noncontrolling interests 495 498 

Total equity 22,596 21,136 
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest and equity $ 91,920 $ 87,174 

The accompanying notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(UNAUDITED)
For the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021

(in millions, except shares)

Three months ended May 31, 2021
Equity attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.

Common stock
shares

Common
stock amount

Treasury
stock amount

Paid-in
capital

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Retained
earnings

Noncontrolling
interests Total equity

February 28, 2021 864,394,418 $ 12 $ (20,626) $ 10,916 $ (3,306) $ 34,116 $ 514 $ 21,625 
Net earnings (loss) — — — — — 1,197 (24) 1,173 
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax — — — — 127 — 4 131 
Dividends declared — — — — — (405) — (405)
Treasury stock purchases — — — — — — — — 
Employee stock purchase and option
plans 487,981 — 16 3 — — — 20 
Stock-based compensation — — — 50 — — — 50 
Business combination — — — — — — — — 
Other — — — 2 — — — 2 
May 31, 2021 864,882,399 $ 12 $ (20,610) $ 10,971 $ (3,180) $ 34,908 $ 495 $ 22,596 

Nine months ended May 31, 2021
 Equity attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.   

 
Common stock

shares
Common

stock amount
Treasury

stock amount
Paid-in
capital

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Retained
earnings

Noncontrolling
interests Total equity

August 31, 2020 865,603,519 $ 12 $ (20,575) $ 10,761 $ (3,771) $ 34,210 $ 498 $ 21,136 
Net earnings (loss) — — — — — 1,915 (16) 1,899 
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax — — — — 591 — 15 607 
Dividends declared — — — — — (1,215) — (1,215)
Treasury stock purchases (3,000,000) — (110) — — — — (110)
Employee stock purchase and option
plans 2,278,880 — 75 (35) — — — 41 
Stock-based compensation — — — 120 — — — 120 
Adoption of new accounting
standards — — — — — (3) (3) (6)
Business combination — — — 120 — — — 120 
Other — — — 4 — 1 — 4 
May 31, 2021 864,882,399 $ 12 $ (20,610) $ 10,971 $ (3,180) $ 34,908 $ 495 $ 22,596 
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY (continued)

(UNAUDITED)
For the three and nine months ended May 31, 2020

(in millions, except shares)

Three months ended May 31, 2020
 Equity attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.   

 
Common stock

shares
Common

stock amount
Treasury

stock amount
Paid-in
capital

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Retained
earnings

Noncontrolling
interests Total equity

February 29, 2020 880,397,199 $ 12 $ (19,925) $ 10,689 $ (3,407) $ 36,351 $ 615 $ 24,334 
Net earnings (loss) — — — — — (1,708) (18) (1,726)
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax — — — — (463) — (11) (474)
Dividends declared — — — — — (399) — (399)
Treasury stock purchases (10,563,051) — (461) — — — — (461)
Employee stock purchase and option
plans 344,561 — 12 1 — — — 13 
Stock-based compensation — — — 35 — — — 35 
Adoption of new accounting
standards — — — — — — — — 
Other — — — 1 — — — 1 
May 31, 2020 870,178,709 $ 12 $ (20,375) $ 10,726 $ (3,871) $ 34,244 $ 586 $ 21,323 

Nine months ended May 31, 2020
 Equity attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.   

 
Common stock

shares
Common

stock amount
Treasury

stock amount
Paid-in
capital

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Retained
earnings

Noncontrolling
interests Total equity

August 31, 2019 895,387,502 $ 12 $ (19,057) $ 10,639 $ (3,897) $ 35,815 $ 641 $ 24,152 
Net earnings (loss) — — — — — 83 (16) 68 
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax — — — — 27 — 4 31 
Dividends declared — — — — — (1,211) (43) (1,254)
Treasury stock purchases (27,023,145) — (1,374) — — — — (1,374)
Employee stock purchase and option
plans 1,814,352 — 56 (16) — — — 40 
Stock-based compensation — — — 101 — — — 101 
Adoption of new accounting
standards — — — — — (442) — (442)
Other — — — 2 — — — 2 
May 31, 2020 870,178,709 $ 12 $ (20,375) $ 10,726 $ (3,871) $ 34,244 $ 586 $ 21,323 

The accompanying notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions, except per share amounts)

 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales $ 34,030 $ 30,364 $ 98,247 $ 91,612 
Cost of sales 26,877 24,406 77,684 71,858 
Gross profit 7,153 5,959 20,564 19,753 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,116 7,884 17,936 19,663 
Equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen 97 243 (1,196) 284 
Operating income (loss) 1,134 (1,683) 1,432 374 
Other income (expense) 159 (32) 473 32 
Earnings (loss) before interest and tax 1,294 (1,715) 1,905 407 
Interest expense, net 545 148 817 463 
Earnings (loss) before tax 749 (1,862) 1,088 (56)
Income tax provision (benefit) 246 (43) 81 129 
Post tax earnings from other equity method investments 575 6 604 5 
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations 1,078 (1,813) 1,610 (180)
Net earnings from discontinued operations 95 88 289 248 
Net earnings (loss) 1,173 (1,726) 1,899 68 
Net (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests - continuing
operations (27) (20) (25) (23)
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests -
discontinued operations 2 2 9 7 
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc. $ 1,197 $ (1,708) $ 1,915 $ 83 

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc.:

Continuing operations $ 1,105 $ (1,794) $ 1,636 $ (157)
Discontinued operations 92 86 279 241 
Total $ 1,197 $ (1,708) $ 1,915 $ 83 

Basic earnings (loss) per common share:   
Continuing operations $ 1.28 $ (2.05) $ 1.89 $ (0.18)
Discontinued operations 0.11 0.10 0.32 0.27 
Total $ 1.38 $ (1.95) $ 2.21 $ 0.09 

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Continuing operations $ 1.27 $ (2.05) $ 1.89 $ (0.18)
Discontinued operations 0.11 0.10 0.32 0.27 
Total $ 1.38 $ (1.95) $ 2.21 $ 0.09 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:   
Basic 864.7 875.4 864.7 883.7 
Diluted 867.0 875.4 866.2 884.7 

The accompanying notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions)

 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Comprehensive income:   
Net earnings (loss) $ 1,173 $ (1,726) $ 1,899 $ 68 

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:   
Pension/postretirement obligations (1) (2) 8 (11)
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 8 (5) 21 (4)
Net investment hedges (23) 46 (79) 25 
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities 5 — 5 — 
Share of other comprehensive income (loss) of equity method
investments (4) (15) 16 (20)
Currency translation adjustments 146 (498) 636 41 

Total other comprehensive income 131 (474) 607 31 
Total comprehensive income (loss) 1,304 (2,200) 2,506 99 

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests (19) (29) (1) (12)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance,
Inc. $ 1,323 $ (2,171) $ 2,506 $ 110 

The accompanying notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions)

 Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:   

Net earnings $ 1,899 $ 68 
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:   

Depreciation and amortization 1,455 1,447 
Deferred income taxes (210) (102)
Stock compensation expense 120 101 
Equity (earnings) loss from equity method investments 577 (297)
Goodwill and intangible impairments — 2,001 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 419 — 
Gain on sale of equity method investment (290) — 
Other (141) 305 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

Accounts receivable, net (897) 141 
Inventories 71 (227)
Other current assets 18 59 
Trade accounts payable 927 (210)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 428 569 
Income taxes 54 (353)
Other non-current assets and liabilities (120) (102)

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,310 3,398 
Cash flows from investing activities:   

Additions to property, plant and equipment (1,001) (962)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions 662 557 
Proceeds from sale of other assets 406 52 
Business, investment and asset acquisitions, net of cash acquired (1,394) (345)
Other (14) 37 
Net cash used for investing activities (1,341) (660)

Cash flows from financing activities:   
Net change in short-term debt with maturities of 3 months or less 1,556 196 
Proceeds from debt 12,720 16,336 
Payments of debt (11,050) (16,871)
Stock purchases (110) (1,374)
Proceeds related to employee stock plans 41 40 
Cash dividends paid (1,212) (1,260)
Early debt extinguishment (3,687) — 
Other (114) (66)
Net cash used for financing activities (1,856) (2,998)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (55) (3)
Changes in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:   

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 1,058 (263)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 746 1,207 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 1,803 $ 943 

The accompanying notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

Note 1. Accounting policies

Basis of presentation
The Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements of Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. (“Walgreens Boots Alliance” or the “Company”) included herein have been
prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") regarding interim financial reporting. The Consolidated
Condensed Financial Statements include all subsidiaries in which the Company holds a controlling interest. The Company uses the equity method of accounting
for equity investments in less than majority-owned companies if the investment provides the ability to exercise significant influence. All intercompany
transactions have been eliminated.

The Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements included herein are unaudited. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial
statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such
rules and regulations, although the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. These unaudited
Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the notes thereto included in the Walgreens
Boots Alliance Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020.

The coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19”) has severely impacted the economies of the United States (“U.S.”), the United Kingdom (“UK”) and other
countries around the world. The impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s businesses, financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the three months
ended May 31, 2021, as well as information regarding certain expected or potential impacts of COVID-19 on the Company, is discussed throughout this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies, including
making estimates and assumptions. The Company bases its estimates on the information available at the time, its experiences and various other assumptions
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances including estimates of the impact of COVID-19. The extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company’s
business and financial results will depend on numerous evolving factors discussed throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q including, but not limited to,
the severity and duration of COVID-19, the extent to which it will impact our customers, team members, suppliers, vendors, business partners and distribution
channels. The Company assessed certain accounting matters that require consideration of estimates and assumptions in context with the information reasonably
available to the Company and the unknown future impacts of COVID-19 as of May 31, 2021 and through the date of this report. The accounting matters assessed
included, but were not limited to, the Company’s carrying value of goodwill, intangible and other long-lived assets including operating lease right-of-use assets.
The Company’s future assessment of the magnitude and duration of COVID-19, as well as other factors, could result in material impacts to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements in future reporting periods. Adjustments may be made in subsequent periods to reflect more current estimates and assumptions
about matters that are inherently uncertain. Actual results may differ.

In the opinion of management, the unaudited Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for the interim periods presented include all adjustments necessary to
present a fair statement of the results for such interim periods. The impact of COVID-19, the influence of certain holidays, seasonality, foreign currency rates,
changes in vendor, payer and customer relationships and terms, strategic transactions including acquisitions, dispositions, changes in laws and general economic
conditions in the markets in which the Company operates and other factors on the Company’s operations and net earnings for any period may not be comparable to
the same period in previous years.

On January 6, 2021, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “Share Purchase Agreement”) with AmerisourceBergen Corporation (the
“Transaction”). Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Share Purchase Agreement, AmerisourceBergen Corporation
(“AmerisourceBergen”) agreed to purchase the majority of the Company's Alliance Healthcare business as well as a portion of the Company’s retail pharmacy
international businesses in Europe (“Disposal Group”). The Disposal Group met the criteria to be reported as held for sale and discontinued operations. Therefore,
effective as of the second quarter of fiscal 2021, the related assets, liabilities and operating results of the Disposal Group have been reported as discontinued
operations for all periods. The majority of the Disposal Group was previously included in the Pharmaceutical Wholesale segment. Effective as of the second
quarter of fiscal year 2021, the Company eliminated the Pharmaceutical Wholesale segment and aligned into two reportable segments: United States and
International. See Note 15 Segment reporting for additional information on the segments. On June 1, 2021 the Company completed the Transaction. See Note 20
Subsequent events.
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

Unless otherwise specified, disclosures in these Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements reflect continuing operations only. Certain prior period data,
primarily related to discontinued operations, have been reclassified in the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements and accompanying notes to conform to
the current period presentation. See Note 2 Discontinued operations for further information.

Certain amounts in the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements and associated notes may not add due to rounding. Percentages have been calculated using
unrounded amounts for all periods presented.

Note 2. Discontinued operations

On January 6, 2021, the Company entered into the Share Purchase Agreement with AmerisourceBergen. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in the Share Purchase Agreement, AmerisourceBergen agreed to purchase the Disposal Group for approximately $6.5 billion, comprised of $6.275 billion in
cash, subject to certain purchase price adjustments, and 2 million shares of AmerisourceBergen common stock. Alliance Healthcare’s investments in China and
Italy and its operations in Germany are not included in the Disposal Group. The Company's retail pharmacy international operations in the Netherlands, Norway
and Lithuania are included in the Disposal Group. On June 1, 2021 the Company completed the Transaction. See Note 20 Subsequent events.

The Company classified assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group as held for sale in the Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets at the lower of cost or fair
value. Depreciation and amortization ceased on assets classified as held for sale. The Company allocated goodwill to the Disposal Group using relative fair value
of the Disposal Group and businesses retained within the respective reporting units. The assets and liabilities and operating results of the Disposal Group are
reported as discontinued operations, for all periods presented, as the disposition reflects a strategic shift that has, or will have, a major effect on the Company’s
operations and financial results.

Results of discontinued operations were as follows (in millions):
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales $ 5,500 $ 4,714 $ 16,070 $ 14,550 
Cost of sales 4,956 4,235 14,486 13,089 
Gross profit 544 479 1,584 1,461 
Selling, general and administrative expense 394 381 1,211 1,173 
Operating income from discontinued operations 150 98 373 288 
Other expense (2) (2) (7) (6)
Interest expense, net (13) (7) (23) (20)
Earnings before income tax – discontinued operations 135 89 342 262 
Income tax provision 44 3 68 24
Post tax earnings from other equity method investments 4 2 15 9
Net earnings from discontinued operations $ 95 $ 88 $ 289 $ 248 

Sales from the Disposal Group to the Company's continuing operations are not eliminated and aggregate to (in millions):
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales $ 471 $ 448 $ 1,385 $ 1,370 
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

The following table presents cash flows from operating and investing activities for discontinued operations (in millions):
 Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020
Cash used in operating activities - discontinued operations $ (132) $ (157)
Cash used for investing activities - discontinued operations (58) (42)

Asset and liabilities of discontinued operations were as follows (in millions):
May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ 239 $ 47 
Accounts receivable, net 3,524 3,022 
Inventories 1,669 1,534 
Other current assets 410 376 
Property, plant and equipment, net 943 — 
Goodwill and intangibles 4,110 — 
Other assets 202 — 

Assets of discontinued operations - current $ 11,097 $ 4,979 
Property, plant and equipment, net $ — $ 816 
Goodwill and intangibles — 3,936 
Other non-current assets — 230 

Assets of discontinued operations - non-current $ — $ 4,983 
Short term debt $ 366 $ 273 
Trade accounts payables 4,608 4,313 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 759 746 
Income taxes 11 14 
Deferred income taxes 139 — 
Other liabilities 308 — 

Liabilities of discontinued operations - current $ 6,191 $ 5,347 
Deferred income taxes $ — $ 131 
Other non-current liabilities — 280 

Liabilities of discontinued operations - non-current $ — $ 412 

Includes Operating lease right-of-use assets
 Assets and liabilities of Disposal Group are presented as current, in the current period, as the Company completed the Transaction on June 1, 2021.

See Note 6 Equity method investments and Note 17 Related parties for more information on the Company's equity method investment in AmerisourceBergen and
the Company's continuing involvement.

1

1

2

2

1 

2
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WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

Note 3. Acquisitions

iA acquisition
On December 29, 2020, the Company acquired a majority equity interest in Innovation Associates, Inc. for a cash consideration of $451 million. Innovation
Associates, Inc. is a leading-edge provider of software enabled automation solutions for retail, hospital and federal healthcare and mail-order pharmacy markets.
The Company accounted for this acquisition as a business combination and consolidates Innovation Associates, Inc. within the United States segment in its
financial statements. Considering the contractual terms related to the noncontrolling interest, it is classified as redeemable noncontrolling interest in the
Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets. See Note 19 Supplemental information for more details on redeemable noncontrolling interest. The goodwill arising
from this acquisition reflects the expected operational synergies and cost savings to be derived as a result of this acquisition.

As of May 31, 2021, the Company had not completed the analysis to determine the fair value of the consideration paid or to assign fair values to all tangible and
intangible assets acquired, and therefore the purchase price allocation has not been completed. The preliminary purchase price allocation will be subject to further
refinement and may result in changes. These changes may relate to finalization of the fair value of the purchase consideration and the allocation of purchase
consideration to all tangible and intangible assets acquired and identified.

The following table summarizes the consideration for the acquisition and the preliminary amounts of identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date
of the transaction (in millions):
Purchase Price Allocation:
Total Consideration $ 477 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Tangible assets $ 58 
Developed technology and other intangibles 202 
Liabilities (74)
Total identifiable net assets $ 186 
Non-controlling interest $ 103 
Goodwill $ 394 

Pro forma net earnings and sales of the Company, assuming the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of each period presented, would not be materially
different from the results reported. The acquisition did not have a material impact on net earnings or sales of the Company for the three and nine months
ended May 31, 2021.

Pharmaceutical Wholesale business in Germany
On November 1, 2020, the Company and McKesson Corporation closed a transaction to form a combined pharmaceutical wholesale business in Germany, as part
of a strategic alliance. The Company owns a 70% controlling equity interest in the combined business which is consolidated by the Company and reported within
the International segment in its financial statements. The Company accounted for this acquisition as a business combination involving noncash purchase
consideration of $296 million consisting of the issuance of an equity interest in the combined business.

As of May 31, 2021, the Company had not completed the analysis to determine the fair value of the consideration paid or to assign fair values to all tangible and
intangible assets acquired, and therefore the purchase price allocation has not been completed. The preliminary purchase price allocation will be subject to further
refinement and may result in changes. These changes may relate to finalization of the fair value of the purchase consideration consisting of the issuance of an
equity interest in the combined business and the allocation of purchase consideration and the fair value assigned to all tangible and intangible assets acquired and
identified.

The following table summarizes the consideration for the acquisition and the preliminary amounts of identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date
of the transaction (in millions):
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Purchase Price Allocation:
Total Consideration $ 331 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Accounts receivable, cash and other assets $ 582 
Inventories 470 
Property, plant and equipment 125 
Short term debt (296)
Trade accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities (374)
Other noncurrent liabilities (197)
Total identifiable net assets $ 311 
Goodwill $ 21 

A noncontrolling interest was recognized based on the Company's proportionate interest in the identifiable net assets of the combined business. The difference
between the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration in the business combination is recognized as additional paid in
capital. Considering the contractual terms related to the noncontrolling interest, it is classified as redeemable noncontrolling interest in the Consolidated
Condensed Balance Sheets. See Note 19 Supplemental information for more details on redeemable noncontrolling interest.

The following table represents supplemental unaudited condensed pro forma consolidated sales for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31,
2020, respectively as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of each period. The unaudited condensed pro forma information has been prepared for
comparative purposes only and is not intended to be indicative of what the Company's results would have been had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of the
periods presented or results which may occur in the future.

Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020

Sales $ 34,030 $ 31,827 $ 99,921 $ 95,999 

Actual sales for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021 included in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings are as follows:

(in millions)
Three months ended May 31,

2021
Nine months ended May 31,

2021
Sales $ 1,532 $ 3,571 

Pro forma net earnings of the Company, assuming the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of each period presented, would not be materially different from
the results reported.

Other acquisitions
The Company acquired certain prescription files and related pharmacy inventory primarily in the U.S. for the aggregate purchase price of $19 million and
$85 million during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021, respectively and $27 million and $166 million during the three and nine months ended May 31,
2020, respectively.

Note 4. Exit and disposal activities

Transformational Cost Management Program
On December 20, 2018, the Company announced a transformational cost management program that was expected to deliver in excess of $2.0 billion of annual
cost savings by fiscal 2022 (the “Transformational Cost Management Program”). The Company continues to expect to deliver in excess of $2.0 billion of annual
cost savings by fiscal 2022 from continuing operations, after excluding amounts related to the Disposal Group.
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The Transformational Cost Management Program, which is multi-faceted and includes divisional optimization initiatives, global smart spending, global smart
organization and the transformation of the Company’s information technology (IT) capabilities, is designed to help the Company achieve increased cost
efficiencies. To date, the Company has taken actions across all aspects of the Transformational Cost Management Program. The actions under the
Transformational Cost Management Program focus on the two reportable segments and the Company’s Corporate and global functions. Divisional optimization
within each of the Company’s segments includes activities such as optimization of stores, including current plans to exit approximately 200 Boots stores in the UK
and approximately 250 stores in the U.S.

The Company currently estimates that the Transformational Cost Management Program will result in cumulative pre-tax charges to its GAAP financial results in
continuing operations of approximately $2.1 billion to $2.3 billion, subject to approval of which $1.8 billion to $2.0 billion are expected to be recorded as exit and
disposal activities. In addition to these impacts, as a result of the actions related to store closures taken under the Transformational Cost Management Program, the
Company recorded $508 million of non-cash transition adjustments to decrease retained earnings due to the adoption of the new lease accounting standard that
became effective on September 1, 2019.

Since the inception of the Transformational Cost Management Program to May 31, 2021, the Company has recognized cumulative pre-tax charges to its financial
results in accordance with GAAP of $1.2 billion, which were primarily recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses. These charges included $293
million related to lease obligations and other real estate costs, $245 million in asset impairments, $517 million in employee severance and business transition costs
and $153 million of information technology transformation and other exit costs.

Costs related to exit and disposal activities under the Transformational Cost Management Program for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31,
2020 were as follows (in millions):

Three months ended May 31, 2021 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $ 15 $ 6 $ — $ 21 
Asset impairments 5 9 — 14 
Employee severance and business transition costs (19) 2 14 (2)
Information technology transformation and other exit costs 1 10 11 
Total pre-tax exit and disposal charges $ 2 $ 27 $ 14 $ 44 

Nine months ended May 31, 2021 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $ 56 $ 6 $ — $ 62 
Asset impairments 9 10 — 19 
Employee severance and business transition costs 92 36 44 172 
Information technology transformation and other exit costs 14 11 1 26 
Total pre-tax exit and disposal costs $ 172 $ 63 $ 44 $ 279 

Three months ended May 31, 2020 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $ 170 $ 3 $ — $ 173 
Asset impairments 19 10 — 29 
Employee severance and business transition costs 47 (2) 11 56 
Information technology transformation and other exit costs 17 16 — 33 
Total pre-tax exit and disposal charges $ 253 $ 27 $ 11 $ 290 
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Nine months ended May 31, 2020 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $ 179 $ 5 $ — $ 184 
Asset impairments 31 13 — 44 
Employee severance and business transition costs 111 33 18 162 
Information technology transformation and other exit costs 27 26 12 65 
Total pre-tax exit and disposal costs $ 348 $ 76 $ 31 $ 455 

The changes in liabilities and assets related to the exit and disposal activities under Transformational Cost Management Program include the following (in
millions):

Lease obligations
and other real

estate costs
Asset

Impairments

Employee
severance and

business
transition costs

Information
technology

transformation and
other exit costs Total

Balance at August 31, 2020 $ 19 $ — $ 166 $ 14 $ 199 
Costs 62 19 172 26 279 
Payments (47) — (183) (18) (249)
Other (9) (19) (4) (12) (43)
Currency 1 (1) 4 (2) 3 
Balance at May 31, 2021 $ 26 $ — $ 155 $ 9 $ 190 

Store Optimization Program
On October 24, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan to implement a program (the “Store Optimization Program”) to optimize store locations
through the planned closure of approximately 600 stores and related assets within the Company’s United States segment upon completion of the acquisition of
certain stores and related assets from Rite Aid. The Company closed 769 stores and related assets. The actions under the Store Optimization Program commenced
in March 2018 and were completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020.

Costs related to the Store Optimization Program for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2020 were $3 million and $24 million for lease obligation and other
real estate costs and $7 million and $25 million for employee severance and other exit costs, respectively. The liabilities related to the Store Optimization Program
as of May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020 were not material.

Note 5. Leases

The Company leases certain retail stores, warehouses, distribution centers, office space, land and equipment. For leases in the U.S., the initial lease term is
typically 15 to 25 years, followed by additional terms containing renewal options typically at five-year intervals, and may include rent escalation clauses. Non-
U.S. leases are typically for shorter terms and may include cancellation clauses or renewal options. The commencement date of all lease terms is the earlier of the
date the Company becomes legally obligated to make rent payments or the date the Company has the right to control the property. The Company recognizes
operating lease rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. In addition to minimum fixed rentals, some leases provide for contingent rentals
based upon a portion of sales.
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases were as follows (in millions):

Balance Sheet supplemental information: May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020
Operating Leases:

Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 21,874 $ 21,453 

Operating lease obligations - current 2,327 2,358 
Operating lease obligations - non-current 22,088 21,765 

Total operating lease obligations $ 24,416 $ 24,123 
Finance Leases:

Right-of-use assets included in:
 Property, plant and equipment, net $ 741 $ 766 

Lease obligations included in:
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 37 31 
Other non-current liabilities 989 1,013 

Total finance lease obligations $ 1,025 $ 1,044 

Supplemental income statement information related to leases were as follows (in millions):

Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
Statement of Earnings supplemental
information: 2021 2020 2021 2020
Operating lease cost

Fixed $ 807 $ 806 $ 2,406 $ 2,436 
Variable 157 163 477 587 

Finance lease cost
Amortization $ 11 $ 11 $ 33 $ 29 
Interest 13 14 39 40 

Sublease income 21 24 62 56 
Impairment of right-of-use assets 8 170 23 182 
Impairment of finance lease assets — 21 — 24 
Gains on sale-leaseback transactions 85 84 273 224 

Includes real estate property taxes, common area maintenance, insurance and rental payments based on sales volume.
Recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses.
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Other supplemental information related to leases were as follows (in millions):

Nine months ended May 31,
Other Supplemental Information: 2021 2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease obligations

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 2,562 $ 2,487 
Operating cash flows from finance leases 36 36 
Financing cash flows from finance leases 31 36 

Total $ 2,629 $ 2,559 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations:

Operating leases $ 2,011 $ 1,917 
Finance leases — 65 

Total $ 2,011 $ 1,982 

Average lease term and discount rate as of May 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020 were as follows:

Weighted average terms and discount rates: May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020
Weighted average remaining lease term in years:

Operating leases 10.4 10.7
Finance leases 20.4 20.6

Weighted average discount rate:
Operating leases 4.93 % 4.97 %
Finance leases 5.18 % 5.14 %

The aggregate future lease payments for operating and finance leases as of May 31, 2021 were as follows (in millions):

Future lease payments:
Fiscal year Finance lease Operating lease
2021 (Remaining period) $ 23 $ 867 
2022 92 3,403 
2023 91 3,296 
2024 92 3,169 
2025 90 3,039 
2026 90 2,911 
Later 1,194 14,569 
Total undiscounted minimum lease payments $ 1,672 $ 31,254 
Less: Present value discount (647) (6,838)
Lease liability $ 1,025 $ 24,416 
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Note 6. Equity method investments

Equity method investments as of May 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020, were as follows (in millions, except percentages):
 May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020

 Carrying value
Ownership
percentage Carrying value

Ownership
percentage

AmerisourceBergen $ 4,193 28% $ 5,446 28%
Others 2,584 8% - 50% 1,758 8% - 50%
Total $ 6,778  $ 7,204  

AmerisourceBergen investment
As of May 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020, the Company owned 56,854,867 AmerisourceBergen common shares, representing approximately 27.7% of its
outstanding common stock based on the share count publicly reported by AmerisourceBergen in its most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The Company
accounts for its equity investment in AmerisourceBergen using the equity method of accounting, with the net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company’s
investment being classified within the operating income of its United States segment. Due to the timing and availability of financial information of
AmerisourceBergen, the Company accounts for this equity method investment on a financial reporting lag of two months. Equity earnings (loss) from
AmerisourceBergen are reported as a separate line in the Consolidated Condensed Statements of Earnings. During the nine months ended May 31, 2021, the
Company recognized equity losses in AmerisourceBergen of $1,196 million, which included a loss of $1,373 million recognized during the three months ended
November 30, 2020. These equity losses were primarily due to AmerisourceBergen's recognition of $5.6 billion, net of tax, and charges related to its ongoing
opioid litigation in its financial statements for the three months period ended September 30, 2020.

The Level 1 fair market value of the Company’s equity investment in AmerisourceBergen common stock at May 31, 2021 was $6.5 billion. As of May 31, 2021,
the carrying value of the Company’s investment in AmerisourceBergen exceeded its proportionate share of the net assets of AmerisourceBergen by $4.2 billion.
This premium of $4.2 billion was recognized as part of the carrying value in the Company’s equity investment in AmerisourceBergen. The difference was
primarily related to goodwill and the fair value of AmerisourceBergen intangible assets.

On January 6, 2021, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with AmerisourceBergen pursuant to which AmerisourceBergen agreed to purchase
the majority of the Company's Alliance Healthcare business. See Note 2 Discontinued operations for additional information. On June 1, 2021, the Company
completed the sale and received $6.275 billion in cash, subject to certain purchase price adjustments, and 2 million shares of AmerisourceBergen common stock.
After giving effect to the Transaction, the Company beneficially owns approximately 28.4% of AmerisourceBergen’s outstanding common stock, based on the
share count publicly reported by AmerisourceBergen in its most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. See Note 20 Subsequent events.

Other investments
The Company’s other equity method investments include its investments in the U.S. which include VillageMD, BrightSpring Health Services (previously
PharMerica Corporation), Shields Health Solutions and the Company's investment in HC Group Holdings I, LLC (“HC Group Holdings”) which owns equity
interest in Option Care Health and the Company's China investments in Sinopharm Medicine Holding Guoda Drugstores Co., Ltd, Guangzhou Pharmaceuticals
Corporation and Nanjing Pharmaceutical Company Limited.

The Company reported $575 million of post-tax equity earnings and $6 million of post-tax equity earnings from other equity method investments for the three
months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020, respectively. The Company reported $604 million of post-tax equity earnings and $5 million of post-tax equity
earnings from other equity method investments for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020, respectively.

During the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021, the Company recorded a gain of $98 million and $290 million, respectively, in Other income due to partial
sale of ownership interest in Option Care Health by the Company's equity method investee HC Group Holdings. During the three months ended May 31, 2021, as
a result of these sales, our equity method investee HC Group Holdings lost the ability to control Option Care Health and, therefore, deconsolidated Option Care
Health in its financial statements. As a result of this deconsolidation, HC Group Holdings recognized a gain of $1.2 billion and the Company recorded its share of
equity earnings in HC Group Holdings of $576 million during the three months ended May 31, 2021, in Post tax earnings from other equity method investments.
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During the nine months ended May 31, 2021, the Company made an additional investment of $750 million in VillageMD of which $250 million is recorded as an
equity method investment and $500 million is recorded as an investment in convertible debt securities within Other non-current assets.

Summarized financial information
Summarized financial information for the Company’s equity method investments in aggregate is as follows:

Statements of earnings (loss) (in millions)
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,

2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales $ 55,890 $ 52,772 $ 171,417 $ 157,382 
Gross profit 2,558 2,253 7,647 6,476 
Net earnings (loss) 489 912 (3,841) 1,268 
Share of earnings (loss) from equity method investments 672 249 (591) 289 

The summarized financial information for equity method investments has been included on an aggregated basis for all investments as reported for the three and
nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020, respectively.

Note 7. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are evaluated for impairment annually during the fourth quarter, or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit or intangible asset below its carrying value.

Based on the analysis completed during fiscal 2020, as of the June 1, 2020 valuation date, the fair values of the Company’s reporting units exceeded their carrying
amounts ranging from approximately 4% to approximately 239% excluding Boots reporting unit for which the excess of fair value over carrying amount was
nominal due to an impairment charge recognized during the three months ended May 31, 2020. Other international reporting unit's fair value was in excess of its
carrying value by approximately 4%. The fair values of the indefinite-lived trade name intangibles within the Boots reporting unit exceeded their carrying value
amounts ranging from approximately 4% to approximately 31%, except for certain Boots trade name assets impaired during the three months ended May 31, 2020
and pharmacy licenses impairment during the year end August 31, 2019. As of May 31, 2021, the carrying values of goodwill were $1.1 billion and $0.4 billion
for the Boots reporting unit and Other international reporting unit, respectively. As of May 31, 2021, the carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangibles within
the Boots reporting unit was $7.7 billion.

The determination of the fair value of the reporting units requires the Company to make significant estimates and assumptions including with respect to the
business and financial performance of the Company’s reporting units, as well as how such performance may be impacted by COVID-19.

Although the Company believes its estimates of fair value are reasonable, actual financial results could differ from those estimates due to the inherent uncertainty
involved in making such estimates. Changes in assumptions concerning future financial results or other underlying assumptions, including the impact of COVID-
19, could have a significant impact on either the fair value of the reporting units and indefinite-lived intangibles, the amount of any goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible impairment charges, or both. These estimates can be affected by a number of factors including, but not limited to, the impact of COVID-19, its severity,
duration and its impact on global economies, general economic conditions as well as our profitability. The Company will continue to monitor these potential
impacts, including the impact of COVID-19 and economic, industry and market trends and the impact these may have on the Boots and Other international
reporting units.
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Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment consist of the following (in millions):

Goodwill rollforward: United States International
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
August 31, 2020 $ 10,553 $ 1,460 $ 12,013 
Acquisitions 394 21 416 
Currency translation adjustments — 65 65 
May 31, 2021 $ 10,947 $ 1,547 $ 12,493 

The carrying amount and accumulated amortization of intangible assets consist of the following (in millions):

Intangible assets May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020
Gross amortizable intangible assets   

Customer relationships and loyalty card holders $ 3,581 $ 3,502 
Trade names and trademarks 373 348 
Purchasing and payer contracts 337 337 
Others 218 60 

Total gross amortizable intangible assets $ 4,510 $ 4,247 

Accumulated amortization   
Customer relationships and loyalty card holders $ 1,306 $ 1,089 
Trade names and trademarks 226 196 
Purchasing and payer contracts 185 95 
Others 32 26 

Total accumulated amortization 1,749 1,406 
Total amortizable intangible assets, net $ 2,761 $ 2,841 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets   
Trade names and trademarks $ 5,526 $ 5,203 
Pharmacy licenses 2,148 2,028 

Total indefinite-lived intangible assets $ 7,675 $ 7,231 

Total intangible assets, net $ 10,435 $ 10,072 

Includes purchased prescription files.
Includes acquired developed technology and non-compete agreements.

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $156 million and $363 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021, respectively, and $94 million
and $290 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2020, respectively.

Estimated future annual amortization expense for the next five fiscal years for intangible assets recorded at May 31, 2021 is as follows (in millions):
 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Estimated annual amortization expense $ 439 $ 336 $ 317 $ 289 $ 262 
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Note 8. Debt

Debt carrying values are presented net of unamortized discount and debt issuance costs, where applicable, and foreign currency denominated debt is translated
using the spot rates as of the balance sheet date. Debt consists of the following (all amounts are presented in millions of U.S. dollars and debt issuances are
denominated in U.S. dollars, unless otherwise noted):
 May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020
Short-term debt   
Commercial paper $ 2,390 $ 1,517 
Credit facilities 4,198 1,071 
£700 million note issuance 

2.875% unsecured Pound sterling notes due 2020 — 533 
$8 billion note issuance 

3.300% unsecured notes due 2021 1,249 — 
Other 126 144 
Total short-term debt $ 7,963 $ 3,265 

Long-term debt   
$1.5 billion note issuance 

3.200% unsecured notes due 2030 $ 497 $ 497 
4.100% unsecured notes due 2050 792 990 

$6 billion note issuance   
3.450% unsecured notes due 2026 1,442 1,891 
4.650% unsecured notes due 2046 318 591 

$8 billion note issuance 
3.300% unsecured notes due 2021 — 1,248 
3.800% unsecured notes due 2024 1,154 1,993 
4.500% unsecured notes due 2034 301 496 
4.800% unsecured notes due 2044 868 1,493 

£700 million note issuance 
3.600% unsecured Pound sterling notes due 2025 423 398 

€750 million note issuance 
2.125% unsecured Euro notes due 2026 913 891 

$4 billion note issuance 
3.100% unsecured notes due 2022 731 1,198 
4.400% unsecured notes due 2042 263 493 

Other 31 24 
Total long-term debt, less current portion $ 7,732 $ 12,203 

Notes are unsubordinated debt obligations of the Company and rank equally in right of payment with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of
the Company from time to time outstanding. On October 20, 2020, the Company redeemed in full the £400 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of
its 2.875% unsecured Pound sterling notes due 2020 issued by the Company on November 20, 2014.
Other short-term debt represents a mix of fixed and variable rate debt with various maturities and working capital facilities denominated in various currencies.
Notes are senior debt obligations of Walgreen Co. and rank equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of Walgreen Co. On December
31, 2014, the Company fully and unconditionally guaranteed the outstanding notes on an unsecured and unsubordinated basis. The guarantee, for so long as it
is in place, is an unsecured,
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unsubordinated debt obligation of the Company and will rank equally in right of payment with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the
Company.
Other long-term debt represents a mix of fixed and variable rate debt in various currencies with various maturities.
On April 26, 2021, the Company entered into a cash tender offer to partially purchase and retire $3.3 billion of long term U.S. dollar denominated notes with a
weighted average interest rate of 4.02%, using funds drawn down from the $3.8 billion April 2021 Credit Agreement (as defined below). The Company
recognized a loss of $419 million related to the early extinguishment of debt, within Interest expense, which includes $386 million of redemption premium
paid in cash. The cash payments related to the early extinguishment of debt are classified as cash outflows from financing activities in the consolidated
statement of cash flows. On June 1, 2021, the Company completed the previously announced sale of the Company’s Alliance Healthcare business and used a
portion of the Transaction proceeds to repay all of the outstanding amount owed on the April 2021 Credit Agreement that funded the bond tender completed
by the Company on April 26, 2021.

$1.5 Billion Note Issuance
On April 15, 2020, the Company issued, in an underwritten public offering, $0.5 billion of 3.20% notes due 2030 and $1.0 billion of 4.10% notes due 2050. Total
issuance costs relating to the notes, including underwriting discounts and offering expenses were $13 million. The Company partially purchased and retired $0.2
billion of its outstanding $1.0 billion, 4.10% notes due 2050 pursuant to the debt tender offer completed on April 26, 2021.

Credit facilities

April 9, 2021 Delayed Draw Term Loan Credit Agreement
On April 9, 2021, the Company entered into a delayed draw term loan credit agreement (the “April 2021 Credit Agreement”) with the lenders from time to time
party thereto. The purpose of the loan was to fund the Company's April 26, 2021 cash tender offer to partially purchase and retire $3.30 billion of long term U.S.
dollar denominated notes. The April 2021 Credit Agreement was initially a $2.75 billion senior unsecured delayed draw term loan facility, with an original facility
termination date (the “Initial Maturity Date”) of the earliest of (x) October 9, 2021, (y) the date of acceleration of all term loans and termination of all
commitments pursuant to the April 2021 Credit Agreement and (z) the date of prepayment of all loans and the termination of all commitments pursuant to the
April 2021 Credit Agreement. On April 23, 2021, the April 2021 Credit Agreement term loan facility amount was increased to $3.8 billion. As of May 31, 2021,
there were $3.8 billion of borrowings outstanding under the April 2021 Credit Agreement. On June 1, 2021 the Company completed the previously announced
sale of the Company’s Alliance Healthcare business and used a portion of the Transaction proceeds to repay all borrowings outstanding under the April 2021
Credit Agreement.

December 23, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement
On December 23, 2020, the Company entered into a $1.25 billion senior unsecured 364-day revolving credit agreement and a $2.25 billion senior unsecured 18-
month revolving credit facility, with a swing line subfacility commitment amount of $350 million, with designated borrowers from time to time party thereto and
lenders from time to time party thereto. The 364-Day Facility’s termination date is the earlier of (i) 364 days from December 23, 2020, the effective date (subject
to the extension thereof pursuant to the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement) and (ii) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the revolving
commitments under the 364-Day Facility pursuant to the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement. The 18-Month Facility’s termination date is the earlier of (i) 18
months from the effective date (subject to the extension thereof pursuant to the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement) and (ii) the date of termination in whole of the
aggregate amount of the revolving commitments under the 18-Month Facility pursuant to the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement. As of May 31, 2021, there were
$400 million borrowings outstanding under the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement.

April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement
On April 7, 2020, the Company and with WBA Financial Services Limited, a private limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales
(“WBAFSL”), as co-borrowers, entered into a $500 million revolving credit agreement (the “April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders from
time to time party thereto. The April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement is a senior unsecured revolving credit facility, with a facility termination date of the
earlier of (a) 364-days from April 7, 2020 and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the commitments pursuant to the April 7, 2020
Revolving Credit Agreement. The Company and WBAFSL are co-borrowers under the April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the
April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement, the Company provides a guarantee of any obligations of WBAFSL under the April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit
Agreement. This revolving credit agreement was terminated in full on December 23, 2020.
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April 2020 Revolving Bilateral and Club Credit Agreements
The Company entered into a $750 million revolving credit agreement on April 1, 2020 (the “April 2020 Revolving Bilateral Credit Agreement”) and a
$1.325 billion revolving credit agreement on April 2, 2020 (the “April 2020 Revolving Club Credit Agreement” and together with the April 2020 Revolving
Bilateral Credit Agreement, the “Other April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreements”) with the lenders from time to time party thereto. Each of the Other April 2020
Revolving Credit Agreements is a senior unsecured revolving credit facility, with a facility termination date of the earlier of (a) March 31, 2021 (which date shall
be shortened pursuant to the terms of the applicable Other April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement if the Company does not extend the maturity date of certain of
its existing credit agreements or enter into new bank or bond financings with a certain maturity date and above an aggregate principal amount as described in the
applicable Other April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement) and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the commitments pursuant to the
applicable Other April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement. This revolving credit agreement was terminated in full on December 23, 2020.

August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreements
On August 30, 2019, the Company entered into three $500 million revolving credit agreements (together, the “August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreements” and
each individually, an “August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders from time to time party thereto. Each of the August 2019 Revolving Credit
Agreements are senior unsecured revolving credit facilities, with facility termination dates of the earlier of (a) 18 months following August 30, 2019, subject to
extension thereof pursuant to the applicable August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreement, and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the
commitments pursuant to the applicable August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreement. This revolving credit agreement was terminated in full on December 23, 2020.

January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement
On January 18, 2019, the Company entered into a $2.0 billion 364-day revolving credit agreement (as extended, the “January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit
Agreement”) with the lenders from time to time party thereto. The January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement is a senior unsecured 364-day revolving
credit facility, with an original facility termination date of 364 days following January 31, 2019, subject to extension. On December 18, 2019, the Company
entered into an Extension Agreement (the “Extension Agreement”) relating to the January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement with the lenders party
thereto and Mizuho, as administrative agent. The Extension Agreement extended the Maturity Date (as defined in the January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit
Agreement) for an additional period of 364 days to January 28, 2021. Such extension became effective on January 30, 2020. The January 2019 364 Day Revolving
Credit Agreement was partially terminated on December 23, 2020. The January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement was partially terminated in
accordance with its terms and conditions, reducing the amount available to $0.5 billion as of December 23, 2020. The outstanding facility amount of $1.5 billion
was terminated on January 28, 2021.

A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement
On December 5, 2018, the Company entered into a $1.0 billion term loan credit agreement with the lenders from time to time party thereto and, on August 9,
2019, the Company entered into an amendment to such credit agreement (such credit agreement as so amended, the “December 2018 Credit Agreement”) to
permit the Company to borrow, repay and reborrow amounts borrowed thereunder prior to the maturity date. On April 2, 2020, the Company amended and restated
the December 2018 Credit Agreement (such credit agreement as so amended and restated, the “A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement”). The A&R December
2018 Credit Agreement governs a $2.0 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility, consisting of the initial $1.0 billion senior unsecured revolving facility
previously governed by the December 2018 Credit Agreement and a new $1.0 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility. The facility termination date is the
earlier of (a) January 29, 2021 (which date shall be extended to February 26, 2021 or July 31, 2021 pursuant to the terms of the A&R December 2018 Credit
Agreement if the Company extends the maturity date of certain of its existing credit agreements or enters into new bank or bond financings with a certain maturity
date and above an aggregate principal amount as described in the A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement ) and (b) the date of termination in whole of the
aggregate amount of the commitments pursuant to the A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement. The A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement was further amended
on December 23, 2020 whereby the new facility was terminated in full and the existing facility matured in January 2021.

Amended November 2018 Credit Agreement
On November 30, 2018, the Company entered into a $1.0 billion credit agreement, consisting of a $500 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility and a
$500 million senior unsecured term loan facility, with the lenders from time to time party thereto, on March 25, 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to
such credit agreement (such credit agreement as so amended, the “November 2018 Credit Agreement”) reflecting certain changes to the borrowing notice
provisions thereto. On April 2, 2020, the Company entered into a second amendment to the November 2018 Credit Agreement (such credit agreement as so further
amended, the “Amended November 2018 Credit Agreement”) which amendment became effective as of May 29, 2020. As of May 29, 2020, the $500 million
revolving credit facility portion of the November 2018 Credit Agreement was
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converted into a term loan facility, such that the Amended November 2018 Credit Agreement consists of a $1.0 billion senior unsecured term loan facility. The
facility termination date is the earlier of (a) May 29, 2021 and (b) the date of acceleration of all loans under the Amended November 2018 Credit Agreement
pursuant to its terms. The November 2018 Credit Agreement was repaid in full on April 23, 2021.

August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement
On August 29, 2018, the Company entered into a revolving credit agreement (the “August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders and letter of credit
issuers from time to time party thereto. The August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement is an unsecured revolving credit facility with aggregate commitment in the
amount of $3.5 billion, with a letter of credit subfacility commitment amount of $500 million. The facility termination date is the earlier of (a) August 29, 2023,
subject to extension thereof pursuant to the August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement, and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the
revolving commitments pursuant to the August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement. As of May 31, 2021, there were no borrowings outstanding under the August
2018 Revolving Credit Agreement.

Debt covenants
Each of the Company’s credit facilities described above contain a covenant to maintain, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of consolidated debt to total
capitalization not to exceed 0.60:1.00, subject to increase in certain circumstances set forth in the applicable credit agreement. The credit facilities also contain
various other customary covenants.

Commercial paper
The Company periodically borrows under its commercial paper program and may borrow under it in future periods. The Company had average daily U.S.
commercial paper outstanding of $2.3 billion and $2.6 billion at a weighted average interest rate of 0.47% and 2.33% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and
May 31, 2020, respectively. A subsidiary of the Company had average daily commercial paper outstanding, which was issued under the Joint HM Treasury and
Bank of England's COVID Corporate Financing Facility commercial paper program, of £300 million or approximately $424 million at a weighted average interest
rate of 0.43% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021. The subsidiary of the Company repaid the commercial paper issued under the Joint HM Treasury and
Bank of England's COVID Corporate Financing Facility commercial paper program on May 14, 2021.

Interest
Interest paid by the Company was $889 million and $510 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020, respectively. Interest paid in the
nine months ended May 31, 2021 of $889 million includes charges on early extinguishment of debt of $387 million.

Note 9. Financial instruments

The Company uses derivative instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency exchange risks. The Company has non-U.S. dollar
denominated net investments and uses foreign currency denominated financial instruments, specifically foreign currency derivatives and foreign currency
denominated debt, to hedge its foreign currency risk.
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The notional amounts and fair value of derivative instruments outstanding were as follows (in millions):

May 31, 2021 Notional Fair value Location in Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets
Derivatives designated as hedges:
Interest rate swaps $ 1,000 $ 5 Other non-current assets
Cross currency interest rate swaps 992 58 Other non-current liabilities
Foreign currency forwards 39 2 Other non-current liabilities
Foreign currency forwards 1 — Other current assets
Foreign currency forwards 635 14 Other current liabilities
Cross currency interest rate swaps 113 13 Other current liabilities

Derivatives not designated as hedges:
Foreign currency forwards $ 1,368 $ 3 Other current assets
Total return swap 244 9 Other current assets
Foreign currency forwards 2,613 30 Other current liabilities

August 31, 2020 Notional Fair value Location in Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets
Derivatives designated as hedges:

Cross currency interest rate swaps $ 722 $ 16 Other non-current assets
Foreign currency forwards 49 1 Other non-current liabilities
Cross currency interest rate swaps 318 13 Other non-current liabilities
Interest rate swaps 1,000 10 Other non-current liabilities
Foreign currency forwards 100 1 Other current assets
Cross currency interest rate swaps 50 — Other current assets
Foreign currency forwards 671 23 Other current liabilities
Cross currency interest rate swaps 103 3 Other current liabilities

Derivatives not designated as hedges:
Foreign currency forwards $ 1,930 $ 19 Other current assets
Foreign currency forwards 2,934 56 Other current liabilities
Total return swap 205 1 Other current liabilities

Net investment hedges
The Company uses cross currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward contracts to hedge net investments in subsidiaries with non-U.S. dollar
functional currencies. For qualifying net investment hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recorded in the currency translation adjustment within
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Cash flow hedges
The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge the variability in forecasted cash flows of certain floating-rate debt. For qualifying cash flow hedges, changes in
the fair value of the derivatives are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and released to the Consolidated Statements of Earnings when the
hedged cash flows affect earnings.

Derivatives not designated as hedges
The Company enters into derivative transactions that are not designated as accounting hedges. These derivative instruments are economic hedges of foreign
currency risks. The Company also utilizes total return swaps to economically hedge variability in compensation charges related to certain deferred compensation
obligations. The income (expenses) due to changes in fair value of these derivative instruments were recognized in earnings as follows (in millions):
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  Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,

 
Location in Consolidated Condensed

Statements of Earnings 2021 2020 2021 2020
Foreign currency forwards Selling, general and administrative expenses $ (53) $ 72 $ (177) $ 11 
Total return swaps Selling, general and administrative expenses 20 5 48 5 
Foreign currency forwards Other income (expense) (5) 2 (6) 6 

Derivatives credit risk
Counterparties to derivative financial instruments expose the Company to credit-related losses in the event of counterparty nonperformance, and the Company
regularly monitors the credit worthiness of each counterparty.

Derivatives offsetting
The Company does not offset the fair value amounts of derivative instruments subject to master netting agreements in the Consolidated Condensed Balance
Sheets.

Note 10. Fair value measurements

The Company measures certain assets and liabilities in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures, which defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. In addition, it establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair
value into three broad levels:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest
priority to Level 1 inputs.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets.
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows (in millions):

May 31, 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
    

market funds $ 447 $ 447 $ — $ — 
ents in equity securities 10 10 — — 
ents in debt securities 535 — — 535 
currency forwards 3 — 3 — 
rate swaps 5 — 5 — 
urn swaps 9 — 9 — 
s 2 — 2 — 
ies:     
currency forwards $ 46 $ — $ 46 $ — 

urrency interest rate swaps 71 — 71 — 
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 August 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:     
Money market funds $ 6 $ 6 $ — $ — 
Investments in equity securities 1 1 — — 
Foreign currency forwards 20 — 20 — 
Cross currency interest rate swaps 16 — 16 — 
Liabilities:     
Foreign currency forwards $ 80 $ — $ 80 $ — 
Cross currency interest rate swaps 16 — 16 — 
Interest rate swaps 10 — 10 — 
Total return swaps 1 — 1 — 

Money market funds are valued at the closing price reported by the fund sponsor.
Fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices as of May 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020.
Level 3 debt securities include investments in convertible debt securities of VillageMD which are valued on a quarterly basis using an option pricing method,
a form of the income approach, with gains or losses recorded in Other Comprehensive Income. Inputs include the enterprise value, expected holding term of
the investment, volatility and risk-free interest rates.
The fair value of forward currency contracts is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current available
forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using observable market rates. See Note 9 Financial instruments, for additional information.
The fair value of cross currency interest rate swaps and interest rate swaps is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows based on the applicable
observable yield curves. See Note 9 Financial instruments, for additional information.

There were no transfers between Levels for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021.

As of May 31, 2021, the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of long-term notes outstanding including the current portion were $8.9 billion and $9.7
billion, respectively. The fair values of the notes outstanding are Level 1 fair value measures and determined based on quoted market price and translated at the
May 31, 2021 spot rate, as applicable. The fair values and carrying values of these issuances do not include notes that have been redeemed or repaid as of May 31,
2021. See Note 8 Debt, for further information.

The carrying values of the Company's commercial paper, credit facilities, accounts receivable and trade accounts payable approximated their respective fair values
due to their short-term nature.

Note 11. Commitments and contingencies

The Company is involved in legal proceedings, including litigation, arbitration and other claims, and investigations, inspections, subpoenas, audits, claims,
inquiries and similar actions by pharmacy, healthcare, tax and other governmental authorities, arising in the normal course of the Company’s business, including
the matters described below. Legal proceedings, in general, and securities, class action and multi-district litigation, in particular, can be expensive and disruptive.
Some of these suits may purport or may be determined to be class actions and/or involve parties seeking large and/or indeterminate amounts, including punitive or
exemplary damages, and may remain unresolved for several years. From time to time, the Company is also involved in legal proceedings as a plaintiff involving
antitrust, tax, contract, intellectual property and other matters. Gain contingencies, if any, are recognized when they are realized.

Like other companies in the retail pharmacy and pharmaceutical wholesale industries, the Company is subject to extensive regulation by national, state and local
government agencies in the U.S. and other countries in which it operates. There continues to be a heightened level of review and/or audit by regulatory authorities
of, and increased litigation regarding, the Company’s and the rest of the health care and related industry’s business, compliance and reporting practices. As a
result, the Company regularly is the subject of government actions of the types described above. The Company also may be named from time to time in qui tam
actions initiated by private third parties. In such actions, the private parties purport to act on behalf of federal or state governments, allege that false claims have
been submitted for payment by the government and may receive an award if their claims are successful. After a private party has filed a qui tam action, the
government must investigate the private party's claim
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and determine whether to intervene in and take control over the litigation. These actions may remain under seal while the government makes this determination. If
the government declines to intervene, the private party may nonetheless continue to pursue the litigation on his or her own purporting to act on behalf of the
government.

The results of legal proceedings, including government investigations, are often uncertain and difficult to predict, and the costs incurred in these matters can be
substantial, regardless of the outcome. With respect to litigation and other legal proceedings where the Company has determined that a material loss is reasonably
possible, the Company is unable to estimate the amount or range of reasonably possible loss due to the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of and
uncertainties regarding such litigation and legal proceedings. The Company believes that its defenses and assertions in pending legal proceedings have merit and
does not believe that any of these pending matters, after consideration of applicable reserves and rights to indemnification, will have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial position. However, substantial unanticipated verdicts, fines and rulings do sometimes occur. As a result, the Company could
from time to time incur judgments, enter into settlements or revise its expectations regarding the outcome of certain matters, and such developments could have a
material adverse effect on its results of operations in the period in which the amounts are accrued and/or its cash flows in the period in which the amounts are paid.
In addition, as a result of governmental investigations or proceedings, the Company may be subject to damages, civil or criminal fines or penalties, or other
sanctions, including the possible suspension or loss of licensure and/or suspension or exclusion from participation in government programs.

On December 29, 2014, a putative shareholder filed a derivative action in federal court in the Northern District of Illinois against certain current and former
directors and officers of Walgreen Co. and Walgreen Co., as a nominal defendant, arising out of certain public statements the Company made regarding its former
fiscal 2016 goals. (Cutler v. Wasson et al., No. 1:14-cv-10408 (N.D. Ill.)) The action asserts claims for breach of fiduciary duty, waste and unjust enrichment. On
May 18, 2015, the case was stayed in light of a securities class action that was filed on April 10, 2015, described below. On November 3, 2016, the Court entered a
stipulation and order extending the stay until the resolution of the securities class action.

On April 10, 2015, a putative shareholder filed a securities class action in federal court in the Northern District of Illinois against Walgreen Co. and certain former
officers of Walgreen Co. (Washtenaw County Employees’ Retirement System v. Walgreen Co. et al., No. 1:15-cv-3187 (N.D. Ill.)) The action asserts claims for
violation of the federal securities laws arising out of certain public statements the Company made regarding its former fiscal 2016 goals. A motion to dismiss a
consolidated class action complaint filed on August 17, 2015 was granted in part and denied in part on September 30, 2016. The court granted plaintiff’s motion
for class certification on March 29, 2018 and plaintiff filed a first amended complaint on December 19, 2018. A motion to dismiss the first amended complaint
was granted in part and denied in part on September 23, 2019. Fact discovery and expert discovery have concluded. Motions for summary judgment have been
fully briefed.

On December 11, 2017, purported Rite Aid shareholders filed an amended complaint in a putative class action lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Middle
District of Pennsylvania (the “M.D. Pa. action”) arising out of transactions contemplated by the merger agreement between the Company and Rite Aid. The
amended complaint alleged that the Company and certain of its officers made false or misleading statements regarding the transactions. The Court denied the
Company’s motion to dismiss the amended complaint on April 15, 2019. The Company filed an answer and affirmative defenses, discovery commenced, and the
Court granted plaintiffs' motion for class certification. In October and December 2020, two separate purported Rite Aid Shareholders filed lawsuits in the same
court as the M.D. Pa. action opting out of the class in the M.D. Pa. action making nearly identical allegations as those in the M.D. Pa. action (the “Direct
Actions”). On December 24, 2020, the parties to the Direct Actions filed a joint stipulation to stay the Direct Actions until the earlier of (a) 30 days after the entry
of an order resolving any pre-trial dispositive motions in the M.D. Pa. action, or (b) 30 days after the entry of an order of final approval of any settlement of the
M.D. Pa. action. The court so ordered the joint stipulation on December 28, 2020.

In June 2019, a Fred’s, Inc. shareholder filed a nearly identical lawsuit to the M.D. Pa. action in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Tennessee,
except naming Fred’s, Inc. and one of its former officers along with the Company and certain of its officers. Lead plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on
November 4, 2019, which is substantially the same as the original complaint. The court granted the Company's motion to dismiss to the amended complaint on
March 31, 2021.

In December 2017, the U.S. Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation consolidated numerous cases filed against an array of defendants by various plaintiffs such
as counties, cities, hospitals, Indian tribes, and others, alleging claims generally concerning the impacts of widespread opioid abuse. The consolidated multidistrict
litigation, captioned In re National Prescription Opiate Litigation (MDL No. 2804, Case No. 17-md-2804), is pending in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Ohio ("N.D. Ohio"). The Company is involved in the following multidistrict litigation (MDL) bellwether cases: (1) two consolidated cases in N.D.
Ohio (Cnty. of Summit, Ohio, et al v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., Case No. 18-op-45090; Cnty.
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of Cuyahoga, Ohio, et al. v. Purdue Pharma L.P., Case No. 18-op-45004), previously scheduled for trial in November 2020 but postponed indefinitely; (2) one
remanded to the U. S. District Court for the Eastern District of Oklahoma (The Cherokee Nation v. McKesson Corp., et al., Case No. 18-CV-00056-RAW-SPS),
scheduled for trial in September 2022; (3) one remanded to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California (City and Cnty. of San Francisco, et al. v.
Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., Case No. 3:18-cv-07591-CRB), originally scheduled for trial in October 2021, but rescheduled for April 2022; and (4) two additional
consolidated cases in N.D. Ohio (Cnty. of Lake, Ohio v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., Case No. 18-op-45032; Cnty. of Trumbull, Ohio v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al.,
Case No. 18-op-45079), initially scheduled for trial in May 2021 but continued until October 2021. In April 2021, the MDL court selected five additional
bellwether cases involving the Company, all currently pending in N.D. Ohio: (1) Cobb Cnty. v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., Case No. 18-op-45817; (2) Durham
Cnty. v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., et al., Case No. 19-op-45346; (3) Montgomery Cnty. Bd. of Cnty. Commrs., et al. v. Cardinal Health, Inc., et al., Case No.
18-op-46326; (4) Board of Cnty. Commrs. of the Cnty. of Santa Fe v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., Case No. 18-op-45776; and (5) Cnty. of Tarrant v. Purdue
Pharma L.P., et al., Case No. 18-op-45274.

The Company also has been named as a defendant in numerous lawsuits brought in state courts relating to opioid matters. Trial dates have been set in cases
pending in state courts in New Mexico (State of New Mexico, ex rel. Hector Balderas, Attorney General v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., Case No. D-101-cv-2017-
02541, First Judicial District Court, Santa Fe County, New Mexico - September 2022); West Virginia (In re: Opioid Litigation, Circuit Court of Kanawha County,
West Virginia, Civil Action No. 19-C-9000 - November 2021); Missouri (Jefferson County, Missouri v. Dannie E. Williams, M.D., et al., Cause No. 20JE-
CC00029, Twenty-Third Judicial Circuit, Jefferson County, Missouri - June 2022); Florida (State of Florida, Office of the Attorney General, Department of Legal
Affairs v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., Case No. 2018-CA-001438, Sixth Judicial Circuit in and for Pasco County, Florida - April 2022); Nevada (State of Nevada v.
McKesson Corporation, et al., Case No. A-19-796755-B, Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada - January 2023); Michigan (State of Michigan, ex
rel. Dana Nessel, Attorney General v. Cardinal Health, Inc., Case No. 19-016896-NZ, Circuit Court for Wayne County, Michigan - October 2022); and Alabama
(The DCH Health Care Authority, et al. v. Purdue Pharma LP, et al., Cause No. CV-2019-000007.00, Circuit Court of Conecuh County, Alabama - July 2022). In
two consolidated cases in New York state court (County of Suffolk v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., Index No. 400001/2017; County of Nassau v. Purdue Pharma
L.P., et al., Index No. 400008/2017, Supreme Court of the State of New York, Suffolk County, New York) jury selection began in June 2021.

The relief sought by various plaintiffs in these matters is compensatory and punitive damages, as well as injunctive relief. Additionally, the Company has received
from the Department of Justice and the Attorney Generals of numerous states subpoenas, civil investigative demands, and/or other requests concerning opioid
matters. The Company has also had communications with the Department of Justice with respect to purported violations of the federal Controlled Substances Act
and the federal False Claims Act in dispensing prescriptions at certain Walgreens locations. As discussed above, legal proceedings, including government
investigations, are often uncertain and difficult to predict, and the costs and penalties incurred in these matters can be substantial.

Note 12. Income taxes

The effective tax rate for the three months ended May 31, 2021 was 32.8%, compared to 2.3% for the three months ended May 31, 2020. The tax rate for the
current period includes a discrete tax expense on equity earnings of $576 million from HC Group Holdings. See Note 6 Equity method investments for further
information. The effective tax rate for the prior period reflects a tax benefit on a pretax loss and is primarily driven by the impact of a non-deductible goodwill
impairment charge.

The effective tax rate for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 was an expense of 7.4%, primarily due to the discrete tax effect of equity losses in
AmerisourceBergen, partially offset by the tax effect of equity earnings of HC Group Holdings. The effective tax rate for the nine months ended May 31, 2020
was an expense of 230.0%, on a pretax loss for the nine months ended May 31, 2020 primarily due to a non-deductible goodwill impairment charge.

Income taxes paid for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 were $305 million, compared to $604 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2020.

During the next twelve months, based on current knowledge, it is reasonably possible the amount of unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by up to
$110 million due to anticipated U.S. federal income tax audit settlements.

During the nine months ended May 31, 2021, the Company recognized an increase in uncertain tax benefits, resulting in a reduction in deferred tax assets for
capital loss carryforwards and corresponding valuation allowance.
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On June 10, 2021 the UK Finance Act 2021 was enacted increasing the UK tax rate from 19% to 25% effective April 1, 2023. The Company is evaluating the
potential impact of the tax rate increase on its financial statements, which the Company anticipates will result in tax expense related to revaluing the UK net
deferred tax liabilities in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021.

Note 13. Retirement benefits

The Company sponsors several retirement plans, including defined benefit plans, defined contribution plans and a postretirement health plan.

Defined benefit pension plans (non-U.S. plans)
The Company has various defined benefit pension plans outside the U.S. The principal defined benefit pension plan is the Boots Pension Plan (the “Boots Plan”),
which covers certain employees in the UK. The Boots Plan is a funded final salary defined benefit plan providing pensions and death benefits to members. The
Boots Plan was closed to future accrual effective July 1, 2010, with pensions calculated based on salaries up until that date. The Boots Plan is governed by a
trustee board, which is independent of the Company. The plan is subject to a full funding actuarial valuation on a triennial basis.

Components of net periodic pension costs (income) for the defined benefit pension plans (in millions):
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,

 Location in Consolidated Condensed
Statements of Earnings 2021 2020 2021 2020

Service costs
Selling, general and administrative
expenses $ 2 $ — $ 4 $ 1 

Interest costs Other income 36 34 104 106 
Expected returns on plan assets/other Other income (85) (69) (248) (214)
Total net periodic pension costs
(income) $ (48) $ (35) $ (140) $ (106)

The Company made cash contributions to its defined benefit pension plans of $37 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2021, which primarily related to
committed payments. The Company plans to contribute an additional $2 million to its defined benefit pension plans in fiscal 2021.

Defined contribution plans
The principal retirement plan for U.S. employees is the Walgreen Profit-Sharing Retirement Trust, to which both the Company and participating employees
contribute. The Company’s contribution is in the form of a guaranteed match which is made pursuant to the applicable plan document approved by the Walgreen
Co. Board of Directors. Plan activity is reviewed periodically by certain Committees of the Walgreens Boots Alliance Board of Directors. The profit-sharing
provision was an expense of $54 million and $166 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021, respectively, compared to an expense of $57 million
and $171 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2020, respectively.

The Company also has certain contract based defined contribution arrangements. The principal one is UK based to which both the Company and participating
employees contribute. The cost recognized for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021 was $25 million and $77 million, respectively, compared to a cost of
$26 million and $80 million in the three and nine months ended May 31, 2020, respectively.
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Note 14. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

The following is a summary of net changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) by component and net of tax for the three and nine months
ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020 (in millions):

Pension/ post-
retirement
obligations

Unrealized
gain (loss) on

cash flow
hedges

Net
investment

hedges

Unrealized
gain (loss) on
available for
sale securities

Share of OCI of
equity method

investments

Cumulative
translation

adjustments Total
Balance at February 28, 2021 $ (739) $ (18) $ (90) $ — $ 10 $ (2,469) $ (3,306)
Other comprehensive income
(loss) before reclassification
adjustments — (3) (30) 5 2 141 115 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI (2) 14 — — — 1 13 
Tax benefit (provision) — (3) 7 — (6) — (1)
Net change in other
comprehensive income (loss) (1) 8 (23) 5 (4) 142 127 
Balance at May 31, 2021 $ (740) $ (10) $ (113) $ 5 $ 6 $ (2,327) $ (3,180)

 

Pension/ post-
retirement
obligations

Unrealized
gain (loss) on

cash flow
hedges

Net
investment

hedges

Unrealized
gain (loss) on
available for
sale securities

Share of OCI of
equity method

investments

Cumulative
translation

adjustments Total
Balance at August 31, 2020 $ (748) $ (31) $ (34) $ — $ (10) $ (2,948) $ (3,771)
Other comprehensive income
(loss) before reclassification
adjustments 16 11 (110) 5 21 615 558 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI (6) 16 — — — 6 17 
Tax benefit (provision) (3) (7) 31 — (5) — 17 
Net change in other
comprehensive income (loss) 8 21 (79) 5 16 621 591 
Balance at May 31, 2021 $ (740) $ (10) $ (113) $ 5 $ 6 $ (2,327) $ (3,180)
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Pension/ post-
retirement
obligations

Unrealized gain
(loss) on cash
flow hedges

Net investment
hedges

Share of AOCI
of equity method

investments

Cumulative
translation

adjustments Total
Balance at February 29, 2020 $ (57) $ (24) $ 34 $ (1) $ (3,360) $ (3,407)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments (4) (8) 59 (18) (482) (453)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI (3) 1 — — — (1)
Tax benefit (provision) 4 2 (13) 3 (5) (9)
Net change in other comprehensive income
(loss) (2) (5) 46 (15) (487) (463)
Balance at May 31, 2020 $ (59) $ (29) $ 80 $ (16) $ (3,847) $ (3,871)

 

Pension/ post-
retirement
obligations

Unrealized gain
(loss) on cash
flow hedges

Net investment
hedges

Share of AOCI of
equity method

investments

Cumulative
translation

adjustments Total
Balance at August 31, 2019 $ (48) $ (24) $ 55 $ 3 $ (3,884) $ (3,897)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments (12) (9) 31 (23) 39 26 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI (3) 4 — — — 1 
Tax benefit (provision) 4 1 (6) 3 (2) — 
Net change in other comprehensive
income (loss) (11) (4) 25 (20) 37 27 
Balance at May 31, 2020 $ (59) $ (29) $ 80 $ (16) $ (3,847) $ (3,871)

Note 15. Segment reporting

On January 6, 2021, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with AmerisourceBergen. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in the Share Purchase Agreement, AmerisourceBergen agreed to purchase the majority of the Company's Alliance Healthcare business as well as a portion of the
Company’s retail pharmacy international businesses in Europe. The majority of the Disposal Group was previously included in the Pharmaceutical Wholesale
segment. Effective as of the second quarter of fiscal year 2021, the Company eliminated the Pharmaceutical Wholesale segment and is aligned into two reportable
segments: United States and International. The operating segments have been identified based on the financial data utilized by the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer (the chief operating decision maker) to assess segment performance and allocate resources among the Company’s operating segments. The chief operating
decision maker uses adjusted operating income to assess segment profitability. The chief operating decision maker does not use total assets by segment to make
decisions regarding resources; therefore, the total asset disclosure by segment has not been included.

United States
The Company's United States segment includes the Walgreens business which includes the operations of retail drugstores, health and wellness services, and mail
and central specialty pharmacy services, and its equity method investment in AmerisourceBergen. Sales for the segment are principally derived from the sale of
prescription drugs and a wide assortment of retail products, including health and wellness, beauty, personal care and consumables and general merchandise.

International
The Company's International segment consists of pharmacy-led health and beauty retail businesses outside the U.S. and pharmaceutical wholesaling and
distribution business in Germany. Pharmacy-led health and beauty retail businesses include

1
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Boots branded stores in the UK, the Republic of Ireland and Thailand, the Benavides brand in Mexico and the Ahumada brand in Chile. Sales for these businesses
are principally derived from the sale of prescription drugs and health and wellness, beauty, personal care and other consumer products.

The results of operations for reportable segments include procurement benefits. Corporate-related overhead costs are not allocated to reportable segments and are
reported in the “Corporate and Other”.

The following table reflects results of operations of the Company's reportable segments (in millions):

Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Sales:
United States $ 28,743 $ 27,357 $ 83,250 $ 80,734 
International 5,288 3,008 14,998 10,878 

Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. $ 34,030 $ 30,364 $ 98,247 $ 91,612 
Adjusted Operating income:

United States $ 1,471 $ 979 $ 3,789 $ 3,704 
International 94 (135) 326 155 
Corporate and Other (105) (46) (233) (135)

Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. $ 1,459 $ 798 $ 3,881 $ 3,724 

The following table reconciles adjusted operating income to operating income (in millions):

Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Adjusted operating income $ 1,459 $ 798 $ 3,881 $ 3,724 
Adjustments to equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen (48) 105 (1,575) (47)
Transformational cost management (60) (310) (338) (508)
Acquisition-related amortization (158) (94) (367) (290)
Certain legal and regulatory accruals and settlements — — (60) — 
LIFO provision (51) (29) (85) (90)
Acquisition-related costs (9) (68) (25) (291)
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets — (2,001) — (2,001)
Store optimization — (10) — (49)
Store damage and inventory losses — (75) — (75)
Operating income (loss) $ 1,134 $ (1,683) $ 1,432 $ 374 
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Note 16. Sales

The following table summarizes the Company’s sales by segment and by major source (in millions):
Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

United States
Pharmacy $ 21,770 $ 20,478 $ 63,133 $ 60,084 
Retail 6,973 6,879 20,117 20,650 
Total 28,743 27,357 83,250 80,734 

International
Pharmacy 958 794 2,791 2,531 
Retail 1,455 971 4,618 4,735 
Wholesale 2,875 1,243 7,588 3,611 
Total 5,288 3,008 14,998 10,878 

Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. $ 34,030 $ 30,364 $ 98,247 $ 91,612 

Contract balances with customers
Contract liabilities primarily represent the Company’s obligation to transfer additional goods or services to a customer for which the Company has received
consideration, for example the Company’s myWalgreens and Boots Advantage Card loyalty programs. Under such programs, customers earn reward points on
purchases for redemption at a later date. See Note 19 Supplemental information, for further information on receivables from contracts with customers.

Note 17. Related parties

The Company has a long-term pharmaceutical distribution agreement with AmerisourceBergen pursuant to which the Company sources branded and generic
pharmaceutical products from AmerisourceBergen principally for its U.S. operations. Additionally, AmerisourceBergen receives sourcing services for generic
pharmaceutical products.

Related party transactions with AmerisourceBergen (in millions):
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Purchases, net $ 15,947 $ 15,081 $ 46,449 $ 44,489 

 May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020
Trade accounts payable, net $ 6,608 $ 6,390 

See Note 2 Discontinued operations for further information.

WBA Q3 2021 Form 10-Q 35



WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

Note 18. New accounting pronouncements

Adoption of new accounting pronouncements

Financial instruments
In March 2020, FASB issued ASU 2020-03. This ASU improves and clarifies various financial instruments topics. The ASU includes seven different issues that
describe the areas of improvement and the related amendments to GAAP, intended to make the standards easier to understand and apply by eliminating
inconsistencies and providing clarifications. The Company adopted the new standard effective September 1, 2020 and the adoption did not have any impact on the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Investments - equity securities
In April 2019, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2019-04, Codification Improvements to
Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and Financial Instruments (Topic 825). This extensive ASU provides
clarifications for three topics related to financial instruments accounting, some of which apply to the Company. For example, this ASU clarifies the disclosure
requirements that apply to equity securities without a readily determinable fair value for which the measurement alternative is elected. The Company adopted the
new standard effective September 1, 2020 and the adoption did not have any impact on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Collaborative arrangements
In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-18, Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808). This ASU clarifies the interaction between Topic 808, Collaborative
Arrangements, and Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Company adopted the new standard effective September 1, 2020 and the adoption
did not have any impact on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Compensation – retirement benefits – defined benefit plans
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-14, Compensation - Retirement benefits (Topic 715-20). This ASU amends ASC 715 to add, remove and clarify
disclosure requirements related to defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans. The ASU eliminates the requirement to disclose the amounts in
accumulated other comprehensive income expected to be recognized as part of net periodic benefit cost over the next year. The ASU also removes the disclosure
requirements for the effects of a one-percentage-point change on the assumed health care costs and the effect of this change in rates on service cost, interest cost
and the benefit obligation for postretirement health care benefits. The Company adopted the new standard effective September 1, 2020 and the adoption did not
have any impact on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Fair value measurement
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820). The ASU eliminates such disclosures as the amount of and reasons for
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The ASU adds new disclosure requirements for Level 3 measurements. The Company adopted
the new standard effective September 1, 2020 on a retrospective basis and the adoption of this ASU did not have any impact on the Company’s results of
operations, cash flows or financial position.

Financial instruments - credit losses
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (Topic 326), which amends the Board’s guidance on the
impairment of financial instruments. The ASU adds to U.S. GAAP an impairment model that is based on expected losses rather than incurred losses, which is
known as the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model. The CECL model applies to most debt instruments (other than those measured at fair value), trade and
other receivables, financial guarantee contracts, and loan commitments. The Company adopted the new standard effective September 1, 2020, using a modified
retrospective transition method, which requires a cumulative-effect adjustment, if any, to the opening balance of retained earnings to be recognized on the date of
adoption with prior periods not restated. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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New accounting pronouncements not yet adopted

Receivables - nonrefundable fees and others
In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-08, Codification Improvements to Subtopic 310-20, Receivables—Nonrefundable Fees and Other. This ASU
clarifies the accounting for the amortization period for certain purchased callable debt securities held at a premium by giving consideration to securities which
have multiple call dates. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 (fiscal 2022). The Company is evaluating the effect of adopting
this new accounting guidance but does not expect adoption will have a material impact on the Company's results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Effects of reference rate reform on financial reporting
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.
This ASU provides optional expedient and exceptions for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contracts, hedging relationships, and other
transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. In response to the concerns about structural risks of interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) and,
particularly, the risk of cessation of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), regulators in several jurisdictions around the world have undertaken reference
rate reform initiatives to identify alternative reference rates that are more observable or transaction based and less susceptible to manipulation. The ASU provides
companies with optional guidance to ease the potential accounting burden associated with transitioning away from reference rates that are expected to be
discontinued. In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, which adds implementation guidance to above ASU to clarify certain optional expedients in Topic
848. The ASUs can be adopted no later than December 1, 2022 with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the effect of adopting this new
accounting guidance but does not expect adoption will have a material impact on the Company's results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Investments — equity securities; Investments — equity method and joint ventures; Derivatives and hedging
In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, Investments—Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and
Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815). The amendments in this ASU clarify the interaction between the accounting for investments in equity securities, investment
in equity method and certain derivatives instruments. The ASU is expected to reduce diversity in practice and increase comparability of the accounting for these
interactions. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 (fiscal 2022). The Company is evaluating the effect of adopting this new
accounting guidance but does not expect adoption will have a material impact on the Company's results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Income taxes - simplifying the accounting for income taxes
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12: Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (Topic 740), which removes certain exceptions to the general
principles in Topic 740 and improves consistent application of and simplifies GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance.
This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 (fiscal 2022), and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption
permitted. The Company is evaluating the effect of adopting this new accounting guidance but does not expect adoption will have a material impact on the
Company's disclosures.

Note 19. Supplemental information

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are stated net of allowances for doubtful accounts. Accounts receivable balances primarily consist of trade receivables due from customers,
including amounts due from third party providers (e.g., pharmacy benefit managers, insurance companies and governmental agencies). Trade receivables were
$3.9 billion and $3.0 billion at May 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020, respectively. Other accounts receivable balances, which consist primarily of receivables from
vendors and manufacturers, including receivables from AmerisourceBergen (see Note 17 Related parties), were $1.3 billion and $1.1 billion at May 31, 2021 and
August 31, 2020, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization
The Company has recorded the following depreciation and amortization expense in the Consolidated Condensed Statements of Earnings (in millions):
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Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Depreciation expense $ 352 $ 349 $ 1,042 $ 1,051 
Intangible asset and other amortization 156 93 363 290 
Total depreciation and amortization expense $ 507 $ 443 $ 1,404 $ 1,341 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization on property, plant and equipment was $13.0 billion at May 31, 2021 and $12.1 billion at August 31, 2020.

Restricted cash
The Company is required to maintain cash deposits with certain banks which consist of deposits restricted under contractual agency agreements and cash restricted
by law and other obligations.

The following represents a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets to total cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash in the Consolidated Condensed Statements of Cash Flows as of May 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020 (in millions):

May 31, 2021 August 31, 2020
Cash and cash equivalents - continuing operations $ 1,345 $ 469 
Cash and cash equivalents - discontinued operations 239 47 
Restricted cash - continuing operations (included in other current assets) 76 62 
Restricted cash - discontinued operations 143 168 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 1,803 $ 746 

Redeemable noncontrolling interest
The redeemable noncontrolling interest balance as of May 31, 2021 was $310 million due to acquisitions during the nine months period ended May 31, 2021. See
Note 3 Acquisitions for further details.

Earnings per share
The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options on earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method. Stock options are anti-dilutive and excluded
from the earnings per share calculation if the exercise price exceeds the average market price of the common shares. There were 15.9 million weighted outstanding
options to purchase common shares that were anti-dilutive and excluded from the third quarter earnings per share calculation as of May 31, 2021 compared to 20.5
million as of May 31, 2020.

Due to the anti-dilutive effect resulting from the reported net loss during three months and nine months ended May 31, 2020, the incremental impact of potentially
dilutive securities were omitted from the calculation of weighted-average common shares outstanding.

Cash dividends declared per common share
Cash dividends per common share declared were as follows:
Quarter ended 2021 2020
November $ 0.4675 $ 0.4575 
February $ 0.4675 $ 0.4575 
May $ 0.4675 $ 0.4575 

$ 1.4025 $ 1.3725 
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Note 20. Subsequent events

On June 1, 2021, the Company completed the previously announced sale of the majority of the Company's Alliance Healthcare business as well as a portion of the
Company’s retail pharmacy international businesses in Europe, per the Share Purchase Agreement with AmerisourceBergen. See Note 2 Discontinued Operations
for further information. The Company estimates the fair value of the proceeds from the Transaction to be approximately $6.8 billion to $6.9 billion (subject to net
cash and working capital adjustments), the gain before currency translation adjustments to be approximately $1.0 billion to $1.1 billion and net gain on disposal to
be approximately $0.3 billion to $0.4 billion. As of the date of this report, the Company has not completed the calculation of net gain on disposal of discontinued
operations and therefore estimates presented are subject to further refinement and may result in changes.
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Item 2. Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the financial statements and the related
notes included elsewhere herein and the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements, accompanying notes and management’s discussion and analysis of
financial condition and results of operations and other disclosures contained in the Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2020. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from
those discussed in forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed below under “Cautionary note
regarding forward-looking statements”, and in item 1A, risk factors, in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020. References herein to the
“Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our” refer to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. and its subsidiaries, except as otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires.

Certain amounts in the management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations may not add due to rounding. All percentages have
been calculated using unrounded amounts for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020.

INTRODUCTION AND SEGMENTS

Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Walgreens Boots Alliance” or the “Company”) is a global leader in retail pharmacy. Its operations are
conducted through two reportable segments:

• United States; and
• International

See Note 15 Segment reporting and Note 16 Sales to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for further information.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Pharmaceutical Wholesale Transaction
On January 6, 2021, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with AmerisourceBergen. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in the Share Purchase Agreement, AmerisourceBergen agreed to purchase the majority of the Company's Alliance Healthcare business as well as a portion of the
Company’s retail pharmacy international businesses in Europe for approximately $6.5 billion, comprised of $6.275 billion in cash, subject to certain purchase
price adjustments, and 2 million shares of AmerisourceBergen common stock. Alliance Healthcare’s investment in China and Italy and its operations in Germany
are not part of the Transaction. The Company's retail pharmacy international operations in The Netherlands, Norway and Lithuania are part of the Transaction. On
June 1, 2021 the Company completed the previously announced sale of the Company's Alliance Healthcare business per the Share Purchase Agreement with
AmerisourceBergen. After giving effect to the Transaction, the Company beneficially owns approximately 28.4% of AmerisourceBergen’s outstanding common
stock, based on the share count publicly reported by AmerisourceBergen in its most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. See Note 20 Subsequent events to the
Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for further information.

The Disposal Group met the criteria to be reported as discontinued operations. Therefore, the related assets, liabilities and operating results of the Disposal Group
are reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

In connection with the closing of the Transaction, the Company and AmerisourceBergen also agreed to (i) a three-year extension through 2029 of the U.S.
pharmaceutical distribution agreement pursuant to which branded and generic pharmaceutical products are sourced from AmerisourceBergen in the U.S., (ii) a
three-year extension of the agreement, that provides AmerisourceBergen the ability to access generics pharmaceutical products through Walgreens Boots Alliance
Development GmbH, the Company’s global sourcing enterprise, (iii) a distribution agreement pursuant to which AmerisourceBergen will supply branded and
generic pharmaceutical products to the Company’s Boots UK business following the closing of the Transaction and (iv) explore a series of strategic initiatives
designed to create incremental growth and efficiencies in sourcing, logistics and distribution.

See Note 2 Discontinued operations to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for additional information.

VillageMD investment
On January 6, 2021, the Company and VillageMD announced that the Company had accelerated its investment in VillageMD to support the opening of 600 to 700
Village Medical at Walgreens primary care clinics in more than 30 U.S. markets within the next four years, with the intent to build hundreds more thereafter.
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In July 2020, the Company and VillageMD announced an expansion of their partnership and the intent to open 500 to 700 clinics over a five-year period,
supported by the Company’s investment in VillageMD over three years of $1.0 billion in equity and convertible debt, which included an initial $250 million equity
investment. The Company completed the remaining $750 million investment during the nine months ended May 31, 2021, which allows the Company to increase
the minimum number of clinics to 600 and expand the rollout at a faster pace.

iA acquisition
On December 29, 2020, the Company acquired a majority equity interest in Innovation Associates, Inc. for a cash consideration of $451 million. Innovation
Associates, Inc. is a leading-edge provider of software enabled automation solutions for retail, hospital and federal healthcare and mail-order pharmacy markets.
The Company accounted for this acquisition as a business combination and consolidates Innovation Associates, Inc. within the United States segment in its
financial statements. See Note 3 Acquisitions to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for further information. Considering the contractual terms
related to the remaining noncontrolling interest, it is classified as redeemable noncontrolling interest in the Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets. See Note 19
Supplemental information for more details on redeemable noncontrolling interest. The goodwill arising from this acquisition reflects the expected operational
synergies and cost savings to be derived as a result of this acquisition.

Pharmaceutical Wholesale business in Germany
On November 1, 2020, the Company and McKesson Corporation closed a transaction to form a combined pharmaceutical wholesale business in Germany, as part
of a strategic alliance. The Company owns a 70% controlling equity interest in the combined business which is consolidated by the Company and reported within
the International segment in its financial statements. The Company accounted for this acquisition as a business combination involving noncash purchase
consideration of $296 million consisting of the issuance of an equity interest in the combined business. See Note 3 Acquisitions to the Consolidated Condensed
Financial Statements for further information.

FACTORS AFFECTING OUR RESULTS AND COMPARABILITY
The Company has been, and we expect it to continue to be affected by a number of factors that may cause actual results to differ from our historical results or
current expectations. These factors include: the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19”) on our operations and financial results; the financial
performance of our equity method investees, including AmerisourceBergen; the influence of certain holidays; seasonality; foreign currency rates; changes in
vendor, payer and customer relationships and terms and associated reimbursement pressure; strategic transactions and acquisitions, dispositions, joint ventures and
other strategic collaborations; changes in laws, including U.S. tax law changes; changes in trade, tariffs, including trade relations between the U.S. and China, and
international relations, including the UK's withdrawal from the European Union and its impact on our operations and prospects and those of our customers and
counterparties; the timing and magnitude of cost reduction initiatives, including under our Transformational Cost Management Program (as defined below); the
timing and severity of the cough, cold and flu season; fluctuations in variable costs; the impacts of looting, natural disasters, war, terrorism and other catastrophic
events, and changes in general economic conditions in the markets in which the Company operates. These and other factors can affect the Company’s operations
and net earnings for any period and may cause such results not to be comparable to the same period in previous years. The results presented in this report are not
necessarily indicative of future operating results.

Estimated COVID-19 impacts and uncertainties
COVID-19 has severely impacted, and is expected to continue to impact, the economies of the U.S., the UK and other countries around the world. COVID-19 has
created significant public health concerns as well as significant volatility, uncertainty and economic disruption in every region in which we operate, all of which
have been adversely affected and may again adversely affect our industries and our business operations. Further, financial and credit markets have experienced and
may again experience volatility. Policies and initiatives designed to reduce the transmission of COVID-19 have resulted in, among other things, temporary closure
or reduced hours of operation of certain store locations in U.S., the UK and other countries, reduced customer traffic and sales in our retail pharmacies and the
adoption of work-from-home policies.

COVID-19 continued to affect global economic conditions during the three months ended May 31, 2021. The situation surrounding COVID-19 remains fluid, and
we are actively managing our response in collaboration with customers, government officials, team members and business partners and assessing potential impacts
to our financial position and operating results, as well as developments in our business. As COVID-19 impacts the economies of the U.S., the UK and other
countries around the world, the Company has put preparedness plans in place at our facilities to maintain continuity of our operations, while also taking steps to
keep our team members healthy and safe.
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In response to COVID-19, various domestic and foreign federal, state and local governmental legislation, regulations, orders, policies and initiatives have been
implemented that are designed to reduce the transmission of COVID-19, as well as to help address economic and market volatility and instability resulting from
COVID-19. The Company has assessed and will continue to assess the impact of these governmental actions on the Company. It has participated in certain of
these programs, including for example availing itself to certain tax deferrals which were introduced by the CARES Act in the U.S. and certain tax deferral and
benefit and employee wage support in the UK, and may continue to do so in the future.

During the three months ended May 31, 2021, sales growth within the United States segment was aided by the acceleration of COVID-19 vaccination rollout and
retail recovery as store traffic accelerated with key markets continuing to reopen. The International segment experienced a rebound in retail sales resulting from
the phased reopening of the UK high street and less severe COVID-19 restrictions. However, store transactions remain below pre-COVID-19 levels due to the
slower pace of reopening in the UK. The Company incurred labor and other costs related to the vaccination program and continued to take measures to keep stores
open, incurring incremental selling, general and administrative expenses to safeguard store environments. The Company continued to take certain actions during
the three months ended May 31, 2021 to partly mitigate the impact of COVID-19 through cost containment across the International segment, including reducing
rent at some locations.

The Company continues to play a critical role in fighting the COVID-19 pandemic. To continue to work with customers and manage through the pandemic, the
Company launched a COVID-19 testing program in fiscal 2020. Since the launch of the program, the Company has administered more than 8 million COVID-19
tests in the U.S. as part of its Test & Protect efforts, including over-the counter self tests. In the International segment, Boots administered more than 3 million
COVID-19 tests in the UK, mostly undertaken in partnership with the National Health Service (“NHS”). Boots UK also have a growing private test offering with
several at home and in-store tests available, in addition to testing partnerships with several major airlines.

The Company has worked with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) and the U.S.
government to help administer COVID-19 vaccines to high priority groups, including long-term care facility residents and staff. The United States segment also
expanded vaccination models to ensure convenient access, including same-day and walk-in appointments, mobile clinics, employer partnerships and extended
hours at over 4,000 locations. As of the date of this report, the United States segment has provided more than 25 million, COVID-19 vaccination, including 17
million in the three months ended May 31, 2021. The Company expects a lower level of COVID-19 vaccination in the three months ending August 31, 2021
compared to the three months ended May 31, 2021.

The Company anticipates additional mandates and directives, including revisions thereto, from foreign, federal, state, county and city authorities throughout the
continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic and for some time thereafter. The impact of this activity on the U.S. and global economies and consumer, customer and
health care utilization patterns depends upon the evolving factors and future developments related to COVID-19. As a result, the financial and/or operational
impact these COVID-19 related governmental actions and inactions will have on our businesses, operating results, cash flows and/or financial condition is
uncertain, but the impact, singularly or collectively, could be material and adverse.

The Company’s current expectations described above are forward-looking statements and our actual results may differ. Factors that might cause a difference
include, but are not limited to, those discussed below under “Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements” and in Item 1A, Risk factors, in our Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020.

The potential impacts of Brexit
As a result of a referendum in June 2016, the UK withdrew from the European Union (“Brexit”) on January 31, 2020. It began a transition period in which to
negotiate a new trading relationship for goods and services that ended on December 31, 2020. On December 24, 2020, the EU and UK agreed to a trade deal with
no tariffs nor quotas on products, regulatory and customs cooperation mechanisms as well as provisions ensuring a level playing field for open and fair
competition. Given the lack of comparable precedent, it is uncertain what financial, trade, regulatory and legal implications the agreed Brexit trade deal will have
on our business, particularly our UK and other European operations; however, Brexit and its related effects could have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

TRANSFORMATIONAL COST MANAGEMENT PROGRAM
On December 20, 2018, the Company announced a transformational cost management program that was expected to deliver in excess of $2.0 billion of annual
cost savings by fiscal 2022 (the “Transformational Cost Management Program”). The Company continues to expect to deliver in excess of $2.0 billion of annual
cost savings by fiscal 2022 from continuing operations, after excluding amounts related to the Disposal Group.
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The Transformational Cost Management Program, which is multi-faceted and includes divisional optimization initiatives, global smart spending, global smart
organization and the transformation of the Company’s information technology (IT) capabilities, is designed to help the Company achieve increased cost
efficiencies. To date, the Company has taken actions across all aspects of the Transformational Cost Management Program. The actions under the
Transformational Cost Management Program focus on the two reportable segments and the Company’s corporate and global functions. Divisional optimization
within each of the Company’s segments includes activities such as optimization of stores including current plans to close approximately 200 Boots stores in the
UK and approximately 250 stores in the U.S.

The Company currently estimates that the Transformational Cost Management Program will result in cumulative pre-tax charges to its generally accepted
accounting principles in the U.S. (“GAAP”) financial results of approximately $2.1 billion to $2.3 billion, subject to approval, of which $1.8 billion to $2.0 billion
are expected to be recorded as exit and disposal activities. The Company estimates that approximately 85% of the cumulative pre-tax charges will be associated
with cash expenditures, primarily related to employee severance and business transition costs, IT transformation costs and lease and real estate payments.

The Company currently estimates that it will recognize aggregate pre-tax charges to its GAAP financial results in continuing operations related to
Transformational Cost Management Program as follows:
Transformational Cost Management Program Activities Range of Charges
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $450 to 500 million
Asset impairments $275 to 300 million
Employee severance and business transition costs $800 to 850 million
Information technology transformation and other exit costs $275 to 300 million
Total cumulative pre-tax exit and disposal costs $1.8 to 2.0 billion
Other IT transformation costs $300 to 350 million
Total estimated pre-tax costs $2.1 to 2.3 billion

Includes impairments relating to operating lease right-of-use and finance lease assets.
Primarily related to asset write-offs from store closures and other asset write-offs.

In addition to the impacts discussed above, as a result of the actions related to store closures taken under the Transformational Cost Management Program, the
Company recorded $508 million of transition adjustments to decrease retained earnings due to the adoption of the new lease accounting standard (Topic 842) on
September 1, 2019.

Since the inception of the Transformational Cost Management Program to May 31, 2021, the Company has recognized aggregate cumulative pre-tax charges to its
financial results in accordance with GAAP of $1.4 billion, of which $1.2 billion are recorded as exit and disposal activities. See Note 4 Exit and disposal activities,
to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for additional information. These charges included $293 million related to lease obligations and other real
estate costs, $245 million in asset impairments, $517 million in employee severance and business transition costs, $153 million of information technology
transformation and other exit costs and $175 million other IT costs.

Costs from continuing operations under the Transformational Cost Management Program, which were primarily recorded in selling, general and administrative
expenses for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020, were as follows (in millions):
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Three months ended May 31, 2021 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $ 15 $ 6 $ — $ 21 
Asset impairments 5 9 — 14 
Employee severance and business transition costs (19) 2 14 (2)
Information technology transformation and other exit costs 1 10 11 
Total pre-tax exit and disposal costs $ 2 $ 27 $ 14 $ 44 
Other IT transformation costs 10 6 — 16 
Total pre-tax costs $ 13 $ 33 $ 14 $ 60 

Nine months ended May 31, 2021 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $ 56 $ 6 $ — $ 62 
Asset impairment 9 10 — 19 
Employee severance and business transition costs 92 36 44 172 
Information technology transformation and other exit costs 14 11 1 26 
Total pre-tax exit and disposal charges $ 172 $ 63 $ 44 $ 279 
Other IT transformation costs 42 17 — 59 
Total pre-tax charges $ 213 $ 80 $ 44 $ 338 

Three months ended May 31, 2020 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $ 170 $ 3 $ — $ 173 
Asset impairments 19 10 — 29 
Employee severance and business transition costs 47 (2) 11 56 
Information technology transformation and other exit costs 17 16 — 33 
Total pre-tax exit and disposal costs $ 253 $ 27 $ 11 $ 290 
Other IT transformation costs 17 4 — 20 
Total pre-tax costs $ 269 $ 30 $ 11 $ 310 

Nine months ended May 31, 2020 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Lease obligations and other real estate costs $ 179 $ 5 $ — $ 184 
Asset impairment 31 13 — 44 
Employee severance and business transition costs 111 33 18 162 
Information technology transformation and other exit costs 27 26 12 65 
Total pre-tax exit and disposal charges $ 348 $ 76 $ 31 $ 455 
Other IT transformation costs 43 11 — 53 
Total pre-tax charges $ 390 $ 87 $ 31 $ 508 

The amounts and timing of all estimates are subject to change until finalized. The actual amounts and timing may vary materially based on various factors. See
“Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements” below.
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INVESTMENT IN AMERISOURCEBERGEN
As of May 31, 2021, the Company owned 56,854,867 shares of AmerisourceBergen common stock, representing approximately 27.7% of its outstanding common
stock based on the share count publicly reported by AmerisourceBergen in its most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and may, subject to certain conditions,
acquire up to an additional 8,398,752 AmerisourceBergen shares in the open market.

The Company accounts for its investment in AmerisourceBergen using the equity method of accounting, subject to a two-month reporting lag, with the net
earnings (loss) attributable to the investment classified within the operating income of the Company’s United States segment. During the nine months ended May
31, 2021, the Company recognized equity losses in AmerisourceBergen of $1,196 million, which included a loss of $1,373 million recognized during the three
months ended November 30, 2020. These equity losses were primarily due to AmerisourceBergen recognition of $5.6 billion, net of tax, and charges related to its
ongoing opioid litigation in its financial statements for the three months period ended September 30, 2020.

On January 6, 2021, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with AmerisourceBergen pursuant to which AmerisourceBergen agreed to purchase
the majority of the Company's pharmaceutical wholesale operations, as well as a portion of the Company’s retail pharmacy international businesses in Europe
among other assets, for $6.275 billion in cash (subject to customary purchase price adjustments) and 2 million shares of common stock of AmerisourceBergen. On
June 1, 2021 the Company completed the previously announced sale of the Company's Alliance Healthcare business per the Share Purchase Agreement with
AmerisourceBergen. After giving effect to the Transaction, the Company beneficially owns approximately 28.4% of AmerisourceBergen’s outstanding common
stock, based on the share count publicly reported by AmerisourceBergen in its most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. See Recent developments above and
Note 2 Discontinued operations to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for additional information.

The financial performance of AmerisourceBergen will impact the Company’s results of operations. Additionally, a substantial and sustained decline in the price of
AmerisourceBergen’s common stock could trigger an impairment evaluation of our investment. These considerations may materially and adversely affect the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

For more information, see Note 6 Equity method investments to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The following table presents certain key financial statistics. 
 (in millions, except per share amounts)
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales $ 34,030 $ 30,364 $ 98,247 $ 91,612 
Gross profit 7,153 5,959 20,564 19,753 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,116 7,884 17,936 19,663 
Equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen 97 243 (1,196) 284 
Operating income (loss) 1,134 (1,683) 1,432 374 
Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP measure) 1,459 798 3,881 3,724 
Earnings (loss) before interest and income tax provision 1,294 (1,715) 1,905 407 
Net earnings attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. -
continuing operations (GAAP) 1,105 (1,794) 1,636 (157)
Adjusted net earnings attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance,
Inc. - continuing operations (Non-GAAP measure) 1,194 618 3,237 2,985 
Diluted net earnings (loss) per common share - continuing
operations (GAAP) 1.27 (2.05) 1.89 (0.18)
Adjusted diluted net earnings per common share - continuing
operations (Non-GAAP measure) 1.38 0.71 3.74 3.37 

 Percentage increases (decreases)
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales 12.1 0.1 7.2 1.4
Gross profit 20.0 (14.4) 4.1 (7.7)
Selling, general and administrative expenses (22.4) 35.4 (8.8) 12.0
Operating income NM NM 282.6 (90.5)
Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP measure) 82.9 (50.0) 4.2 (26.2)
Earnings before interest and income tax provision NM NM 368.3 (90.3)
Net earnings attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. -
continuing operations (GAAP) NM NM NM NM
Adjusted net earnings attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance,
Inc. - continuing operations (Non-GAAP measure) 93.1 (50.4) 8.4 (25.0)
Diluted net earnings per common share - continuing operations
(GAAP) NM NM NM NM
Adjusted diluted net earnings per common share - continuing
operations (Non-GAAP measure) 95.1 (48.4) 10.7 (21.1)

 Percent to sales
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Gross margin 21.0 19.6 20.9 21.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses 18.0 26.0 18.3 21.5

See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP and related
disclosures.
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NM - Not meaningful. Percentage increases/decreases when one period includes income and other period includes loss are considered not meaningful.

WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net earnings from continuing operations
Net earnings attributable to the Company for the three months ended May 31, 2021 was $1.1 billion compared to net loss of $1.8 billion for the prior year quarter.
Diluted net earnings per share was $1.27 compared to diluted net loss per share of $2.05 for the prior year quarter. The increases in net earnings and diluted net
earnings per share are primarily due to $2.0 billion non-cash impairment charges in the International segment, related to goodwill and intangible assets in the prior
year period, increased operating income in the United States and International Segments and earnings related to the Company's equity method investment in HC
Group Holdings I, LLC (“HC Group Holdings”) partially offset by higher effective tax rate in the quarter.

Net earnings attributable to the Company for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 was $1.6 billion compared to net loss of $157 million for the prior year period.
Diluted net earnings per share was $1.89 compared to diluted net loss per share of $0.18 for the prior year period. The increases in net earnings and diluted net
earnings per share are primarily due to $2.0 billion non-cash impairment charges in the International segment, related to goodwill and intangible assets in the prior
year period, earnings related to the Company's equity method investee HC Group Holdings and gain on partial sale of ownership interest in Option Care Health by
the Company's equity method investee HC Group Holdings partially offset by equity losses in AmerisourceBergen of $1.4 billion during the three months ended
November 30, 2020.

Other income for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021 was $159 million and $473 million respectively. Other income for the three and nine months
ended May 31, 2020 was an expense of $32 million and an income of $32 million respectively. Increase in Other income is mainly due to a partial sale of
ownership interest in Option Care Health by the Company's equity method investee HC Group Holdings.

Interest was a net expense of $545 million and $817 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021, respectively, compared to $148 million and $463
million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2020, respectively. The increases in interest expense included $419 million related to the early
extinguishment of debt related to Company's cash tender offer to partially purchase and retire $3.3 billion of long-term debt in advance of its maturity.

The effective tax rate for the three months ended May 31, 2021 was 32.8%, compared to 2.3% for the three months ended May 31, 2020. The tax rate for the
current period includes a discrete tax expense on equity earnings of $576 million from HC Group Holdings. The effective tax rate for the prior period reflects a tax
benefit on a pretax loss and is primarily driven by the impact of a non-deductible goodwill impairment charge. The effective tax rate for the nine months ended
May 31, 2021 was 7.4% compared to 230.0% in prior period, primarily due to the discrete tax effect of equity losses in AmerisourceBergen, partially offset by the
tax effect of equity earnings of HC Group Holdings.

Adjusted net earnings from continuing operations (Non-GAAP measure)
Adjusted net earnings attributable to the Company for the three months ended May 31, 2021 increased 93.1% compared with the prior year quarter to $1.2 billion.
Adjusted diluted net earnings per share increased 95.1% compared with the year-ago quarter to $1.38. Adjusted diluted net earnings and adjusted diluted net
earnings per share were both positively impacted by 1.5 percentage points, respectively, as a result of currency translation.

The increases in adjusted net earnings and adjusted diluted net earnings per share for the three months ended May 31, 2021 primarily reflect strong adjusted gross
profit growth across both pharmacy and retail in the United States and a rebound in International sales and profitability due to less severe COVID-19 restrictions
in the UK. Adjusted diluted net earnings per share for the three months ended May 31, 2021 benefited from a lower number of shares outstanding compared with
the prior year quarter. See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with
GAAP and related disclosures.

Adjusted net earnings attributable to the Company for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 increased 8.4% compared with the prior year period to $3.2 billion.
Adjusted diluted net earnings per share increased compared with the year-ago period 10.7% to $3.74. Adjusted diluted net earnings and adjusted diluted net
earnings per share were both positively impacted by 0.8 percentage points as a result of currency translation.
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The increases in adjusted net earnings and adjusted diluted net earnings per share for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 primarily reflect growth in operating
income due to less severe impacts from COVID-19 and lower interest expense. Adjusted diluted net earnings per share for the nine months ended May 31, 2021
benefited from a lower number of shares outstanding compared with the prior year period. See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below for a reconciliation to the most
directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP and related disclosures.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS BY SEGMENT

United States
The Company's United States segment includes the Walgreens business which includes the operations of retail drugstores, health and wellness services, and mail
and central specialty pharmacy services, and its equity method investment in AmerisourceBergen. Sales for the segment are principally derived from the sale of
prescription drugs and a wide assortment of retail products, including health and wellness, beauty, personal care and consumables and general merchandise.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (in millions, except location amounts)
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales $ 28,743 $ 27,357 $ 83,250 $ 80,734 
Gross profit 6,093 5,275 17,434 16,816 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 4,971 4,990 14,695 14,595 
Equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen 97 243 (1,196) 284 
Operating income 1,219 528 1,543 2,505 
Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP measure) 1,471 979 3,789 3,704 
Number of prescriptions 214.1 196.9 613.9 623.2 
30-day equivalent prescriptions 312.1 287.0 898.1 877.7 
Number of locations at period end 8,992 9,095 8,992 9,095 

 Percentage increases (decreases)
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales 5.1 3.2 3.1 2.9
Gross profit 15.5 (9.7) 3.7 (6.4)
Selling, general and administrative expenses (0.4) 4.0 0.7 1.3
Operating income 130.8 (48.5) (38.4) (31.6)
Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP measure) 50.3 (32.6) 2.3 (19.2)

Comparable sales 6.4 3.1 4.1 2.5
Pharmacy sales 6.3 4.6 5.1 4.3
Comparable pharmacy sales 8.4 3.5 6.0 3.3
Retail sales 1.4 (0.7) (2.6) (1.0)
Comparable retail sales 1.7 2.1 (0.5) 0.7
Comparable number of prescription 9.8 (5.8) — (1.2)
Comparable 30-day equivalent prescriptions 9.8 0.4 3.8 2.7
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 Percent to sales
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Gross margin 21.2 19.3 20.9 20.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses 17.3 18.2 17.7 18.1

See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP and related
disclosures.
Includes immunizations.
Includes the adjustment to convert prescriptions greater than 84 days to the equivalent of three 30-day prescriptions. This adjustment reflects the fact that
these prescriptions include approximately three times the amount of product days supplied compared to a normal prescription.
Comparable sales are defined as sales from stores that have been open for at least twelve consecutive months without closure for seven or more consecutive
days, including due to looting or store damage, and without a major remodel or being subject to a natural disaster, in the past twelve months as well as e-
commerce sales. E-commerce sales include digitally initiated sales online or through mobile applications. Relocated stores are not included as comparable
sales for the first twelve months after the relocation. Acquired stores are not included as comparable sales for the first twelve months after acquisition or
conversion, when applicable, whichever is later. Comparable sales, comparable pharmacy sales, comparable retail sales, comparable number of prescriptions
and comparable number of 30-day equivalent prescriptions refer to total sales, pharmacy sales, retail sales, number of prescriptions and number of 30-day
equivalent prescriptions, respectively. Comparable retail sales for previous periods have been restated to include e-commerce sales. The method of calculating
comparable sales varies across the retail industry and our method of calculating comparable sales may not be the same as other retailers’ methods.

Sales for the three months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The United States segment's sales for the three months ended May 31, 2021 increased 5.1% compared with the year-ago quarter to $28.7 billion. Sales in
comparable stores increased 6.4% compared with the year-ago quarter.

Pharmacy sales increased 6.3% for the three months ended May 31, 2021 and represented 75.7% of the segment’s sales. The increase is primarily due to higher
brand inflation, COVID-19 vaccination volume and increased prescription volume partially offset by higher generic utilization and lower reimbursement. In the
year-ago quarter, pharmacy sales increased 4.6% and represented 74.9% of the segment’s sales. Comparable pharmacy sales increased 8.4% for the three months
ended May 31, 2021 compared to increase of 3.5% in the year-ago quarter. The effect of generic drugs, which have a lower retail price, replacing brand name
drugs reduced prescription sales by 0.5% in the three months ended May 31, 2021 compared to a reduction of 2.7% in the year-ago quarter. The effect of generics
mix on segment sales caused a reduction of 0.4% for the three months ended May 31, 2021 compared to a reduction of 1.9% for the year-ago quarter. Third party
sales, where reimbursement is received from managed care organizations, governmental agencies, employers or private insurers, were 97.5% of prescription sales
for the three months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 95.4% in the year-ago quarter. The total number of prescriptions (including immunizations) filled for the
three months ended May 31, 2021 was 214.1 million compared to 196.9 million in the year-ago quarter. Prescriptions (including immunizations) filled adjusted to
30-day equivalents were 312.1 million in the three months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 287.0 million in the year-ago quarter.

Retail sales for the three months ended May 31, 2021 increased 1.4%, including the impact of the store closures, and were 24.3% of the segment’s sales. In the
year-ago quarter, retail sales decreased 0.7% and comprised 25.1% of the segment’s sales. Comparable retail sales increased 1.7% in the three months ended May
31, 2021 compared to increase of 2.1% in the year-ago quarter. The increase in the current quarter is driven primarily by an increase in health and wellness
excluding cough, cold and flu and beauty categories reflecting mass personalization and improved traffic trends partially offset by a decline in consumables and
general merchandise categories.

Operating income for the three months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The United States segment’s operating income for the three months ended May 31, 2021 increased 130.8% to $1.2 billion including $97 million from the
Company’s share of equity earnings in AmerisourceBergen. The increase was primarily driven by higher gross profit from pharmacy reflecting improved
pharmacy margin entirely due to product mix from COVID-19 vaccinations, and higher gross profit from retail reflecting favorable product mix, higher costs
related to Transformational Cost Management program in the year ago quarter, partially offset by incremental costs related to the vaccination program.
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Gross margin was 21.2% for the three months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 19.3% in the year-ago quarter. Gross margin was positively impacted in the
current quarter by increased pharmacy margin due to favorable mix from vaccinations and retail margin expansion due to product mix.

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales were 17.3% in the three months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 18.2% in the year-ago
quarter. As a percentage of sales, expenses were lower in the current quarter primarily due to higher costs related to Transformational Cost Management Program
in the year ago quarter and savings this year from Transformational Cost Management program partially offset by incremental COVID-19 related costs, mainly
related to the vaccination program as well as higher growth investments.

Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP measure) for the three months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The United States segment’s adjusted operating income, which included $145 million from the Company’s share of adjusted earnings in AmerisourceBergen, was
$1.5 billion for the three months ended May 31, 2021, an increase of 50.3% from the year-ago quarter. The increase was primarily driven by higher gross profit
from pharmacy reflecting improved pharmacy margin entirely due to product mix from COVID-19 vaccinations, and higher gross profit from retail reflecting
favorable product mix and costs savings from the Transformational Cost Management Program, offset by costs related to the COVID-19 vaccination program and
higher growth investments. See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance
with GAAP and related disclosures.

Sales for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The United States segment’s sales for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 increased 3.1% compared with the year-ago period to $83.3 billion. Sales in
comparable stores increased 4.1% compared with the year-ago period.

Pharmacy sales increased 5.1% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and represented 75.8% of the segment’s sales. The increase is primarily due to higher
brand and generic inflation and COVID-19 vaccination partially offset by pharmacy reimbursements and COVID-19 impacts. In the year-ago period, pharmacy
sales increased 4.3% and represented 74.4% of the segment’s sales. Comparable pharmacy sales increased 6.0% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021
compared to increase of 3.3% in the year-ago period. The effect of generic drugs, which have a lower retail price, replacing brand name drugs reduced prescription
sales by 0.4% in the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to a reduction of 2.6% in the year-ago period. The effect of generics mix on segment sales caused
a reduction of 0.3% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to a reduction of 1.8% for the year-ago period. Third party sales, where reimbursement is
received from managed care organizations, governmental agencies, employers or private insurers, were 97.5% of prescription sales for the nine months ended May
31, 2021 compared to 97.2% in the year-ago period. The total number of prescriptions (including immunizations) filled for the nine months ended May 31, 2021
was 613.9 million compared to 623.2 million in the year-ago period. Prescriptions (including immunizations) filled adjusted to 30-day equivalents were 898.1
million in the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 877.7 million in the year-ago period.

Retail sales for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 decreased 2.6% and were 24.2% of the segment’s sales. In the year-ago period, retail sales decreased 1.0%
and comprised 25.6% of the segment’s sales. Comparable retail sales decreased 0.5% in the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to increase of 0.7% in the
year-ago period. The decrease in the current period was driven by slight declines in discretionary categories.

Operating income for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The United States segment’s operating income for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 decreased 38.4% compared to the year-ago period to $1.5 billion,
including a loss of $1.2 billion from the Company’s share of equity earnings in AmerisourceBergen. Excluding the Company's share of equity earnings in
AmerisourceBergen, the increase was primarily due to cost savings from the Transformation Cost Management Program.
 
Gross margin was 20.9% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 20.8% in the year-ago period. Gross margin was impacted in the current fiscal year
by pharmacy margins, which includes adverse impact of specialty, and higher retail margins.

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales were 17.7% in the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 18.1% in the year-ago
period. As a percentage of sales, expenses were lower in the current period primarily due to savings related to the Transformational Cost Management Program
partially offset by incremental COVID-19 related costs, mainly related to the vaccination program as well as higher growth investments.
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Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP measure) for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The United States segment’s adjusted operating income was $3.8 billion and $3.7 billion for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020, respectively.
See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP and related
disclosures.

International
The Company's International segment consists of pharmacy-led health and beauty retail businesses outside the U.S. and pharmaceutical wholesaling and
distribution business in Germany. Pharmacy-led health and beauty retail businesses include Boots branded stores in the UK, the Republic of Ireland and Thailand,
the Benavides brand in Mexico and the Ahumada brand in Chile. Sales for these businesses are principally derived from the sale of prescription drugs and health
and wellness, beauty, personal care and other consumer products.

The International segment operates in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, including the British pound sterling, Euro, Chilean peso and Mexican peso and
therefore the segment’s results are impacted by movements in foreign currency exchange rates. See Item 3, “Quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market
risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk”, for further information on currency risk.

The Company presents certain information related to current period operating results in “constant currency,” which is a non-GAAP financial measure. Comparable
sales in constant currency, comparable pharmacy sales in constant currency and comparable retail sales in constant currency exclude the effects of fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates. See “--Non-GAAP Measures.”

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (in millions, except location amounts)
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales $ 5,288 $ 3,008 $ 14,998 $ 10,878 
Gross profit 1,060 684 3,130 2,936 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,025 2,835 2,949 4,895 
Operating income (loss) 36 (2,151) 181 (1,960)
Adjusted operating income (loss) (Non-GAAP measure) 94 (135) 326 155 

Number of locations at period end 4,062 4,265 4,062 4,265 

 Percentage increases (decreases)
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sales 75.8 (21.1) 37.9 (8.1)
Gross profit 55.0 (38.8) 6.6 (14.5)
Selling, general and administrative expenses (63.9) 183.9 (39.8) 61.3
Operating income (loss) NM NM NM NM
Adjusted operating income (loss) (Non-GAAP measure) NM NM 109.7 (72.5)

Comparable sales in constant currency 21.0 (22.8) 0.7 (8.2)
Pharmacy sales 15.2 (11.5) 5.2 (4.6)
Comparable pharmacy sales in constant currency 6.0 (2.2) 4.8 (0.1)
Retail sales 55.9 (44.6) (0.1) (16.4)
Comparable retail sales in constant currency 35.7 (36.1) (1.9) (12.5)
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 Percent to sales
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Gross margin 20.1 22.7 20.9 27.0
Selling, general and administrative expenses 19.4 94.3 19.7 45.0

See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP and related
disclosures.
Comparable sales in constant currency are defined as sales from stores that have been open for at least twelve consecutive months without closure for seven or
more consecutive days, including due to looting or store damage, and without a major remodel or being subject to a natural disaster, in the past twelve months
as well as e-commerce sales. Comparable sales in constant currency exclude wholesale sales. E-commerce sales include digitally initiated sales online or
through mobile applications. Relocated stores are not included as comparable stores for the first twelve months after the relocation. Acquired stores are not
included as comparable sales for the first twelve months after acquisition or conversion, when applicable, whichever is later. Comparable sales in constant
currency, comparable pharmacy sales in constant currency and comparable retail sales in constant currency refer to total sales, pharmacy sales and retail sales,
respectively. Comparable retail sales in constant currency for previous periods have been restated to include e-commerce sales. The method of calculating
comparable sales in constant currency varies across the retail industry and our method of calculating comparable sales in constant currency may not be the
same as other retailers’ methods.

NM - Not meaningful. Percentage increases/decreases when one period includes income and other period includes loss are considered not meaningful.

Sales for the three months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The International segment’s sales for the three months ended May 31, 2021 increased 75.8% from the year-ago quarter to $5.3 billion, resulting from an increase
in the Company’s combined wholesale and distribution business in Germany which were consolidated as of November 2020. The favorable impact of currency
translation was 17.1 percentage points. Comparable sales, which exclude pharmaceutical wholesale sales in Germany, increased 21.0%, mainly due to higher sales
in Boots UK and Republic of Ireland driven by recovery in store foot traffic as COVID-19 restrictions eased.

Pharmacy sales increased 15.2% in the three months ended May 31, 2021 and represented 18.1% of the segment’s sales. The favorable impact of currency
translation on pharmacy sales was 13.0 percentage points. Comparable pharmacy sales increased 6.0% from the year-ago quarter primarily due to stronger
pharmacy services, and favorable timing of National Health Service (“NHS”) reimbursement in the UK as well as growth in Mexico, partially offset by the impact
of lower prescription volumes in the UK.

Retail sales increased 55.9% for the three months ended May 31, 2021 and represented 27.4% of the segment’s sales. The favorable impact of currency translation
on retail sales was 17.0 percentage points. Comparable retail sales increased 35.7%, from the year-ago quarter reflecting higher Boots UK and Republic of Ireland
retail sales driven by recovery in store foot traffic as COVID-19 restrictions eased, as well as strong performance of Boots.com.

Operating income for the three months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The International segment’s operating income for the three months ended May 31, 2021 was $36 million, compared to a loss of $2.2 billion in the year-ago
quarter. The increase was primarily due to goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges in the Boots reporting unit in the year ago quarter, higher gross profit
attributable to higher sales from less severe COVID-19 restrictions in the UK, as well as decisive cost management actions and strong performance of Boots.com.

Gross profit increased 55.0% from the year-ago quarter. Gross profit was favorably impacted by 16.3 percentage points ($111 million) of currency translation.
Excluding the impact of currency translation, the increase was primarily due to higher retail sales in the UK as a result of the recovery in store foot traffic as
COVID-19 restrictions eased, as well as incremental gross profit associated with the Germany combined business.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 63.9% from the year-ago quarter. Expenses were impacted by 3.8 percentage points ($108 million) as a
result of currency translation. Excluding the impact of currency translation, the decrease was mainly due to goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges in
the Boots reporting unit in the year ago quarter, cost
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savings from the Transformational Cost Management Program, partly offset by lower short term mitigation actions as COVID-19 restrictions eased and higher
selling, general and administrative expenses associated with the Germany combined business. As a percentage of sales, selling, general and administrative
expenses were 19.4% in the three months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 94.3% in the year-ago quarter.

Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP measure) for the three months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
International segment’s adjusted operating income for the three months ended May 31, 2021 was $94 million, an increase of $229 million compared with the year-
ago quarter. Adjusted operating income was positively impacted by 5.1 percentage points ($7 million) of currency translation. Excluding the impact of currency
translation, the increase in adjusted operating income was primarily due to higher sales as a result of the recovery in store foot traffic as COVID-19 restrictions
eased, strong performance of Boots.com and decisive cost mitigation actions. See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below for a reconciliation to the most directly
comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP and related disclosures.

Sales for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The International segment’s sales for the nine months ended May 31, 2021, increased 37.9% compared to the prior year period to $15.0 billion, resulting from an
increase from the Company’s combined wholesale and distribution business in Germany which were consolidated as of November 2020. Sales were favorably
impacted in the period by 9.6 percentage points ($1.0 billion) as a result of currency translation. Comparable sales in constant currency, which exclude
pharmaceutical wholesale sales in Germany, increased 0.7%, primarily due to growth in Ireland and Mexico partially offset by lower sales in Boots UK, including
adverse COVID-19 impacts.

Pharmacy sales increased 5.2% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to the prior year period and represented 18.6% of the segment’s sales. The
favorable impact of currency translation on pharmacy sales in the period was 5.8 percentage points. Comparable pharmacy sales in constant currency increased
4.8% from the prior year period primarily due to favorable timing of NHS reimbursement and stronger pharmacy services in the UK, and pharmacy volumes in
Mexico. This is partially offset by lower prescription volume in the UK.

Retail sales decreased 0.1% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to the prior year period and represented 30.7% of the segment’s sales. The
favorable impact of currency translation on retail sales in the period was 5.6% percentage points. Comparable retail sales in constant currency decreased 1.9%
from the prior year period reflecting lower store retail sales in Boots UK, including COVID-19 impacts, partially offset by higher retail sales in Ireland as well as
the ongoing strong performance of Boots.com.

Operating income for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The International segment’s operating income for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 was $181 million, compared to an operating loss in the prior year period of
$2.0 billion. The increase was primarily due to goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges in the Boots reporting unit in the year ago period, decisive cost
management actions and strong performance of Boots.com, partly offset by lower sales from lower store foot traffic from the relative duration of COVID-19
restrictions.

Gross profit increased 6.6% from the prior year period. Gross profit in the period was favorably impacted by 6.5 percentage points ($190 million) as a result of
currency translation. Excluding the impact of currency translation, the increase was primarily due to incremental gross profit associated with the Germany
combined business and favorable timing of NHS reimbursement, largely offset by lower retail sales in Boots UK.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 39.8% from the prior year period. Expenses in the period were adversely impacted by 3.6 percentage points
($177 million) as a result of currency translation. Excluding the impact of currency translation, the decrease was largely due to goodwill and intangible asset
impairment charges in the Boots reporting unit in the prior year period, cost savings from the Transformational Cost Management Program and short term cost
mitigation, partly offset by higher selling, general and administrative expenses associated with the Germany combined business. As a percentage of sales, selling,
general and administrative expenses were 19.7% in the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to 45.0% in the prior year period.

Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP measure) for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020
The International segment’s adjusted operating income for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 increased compared to the prior year period to $326 million.
Adjusted operating income in the period was positively impacted by 12.0 percentage points
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($19 million) as a result of currency translation. Excluding the impact of currency translation, the increase was mainly due to decisive cost mitigation actions and
strong performance of Boots.com, partially offset by the impact of lower store foot traffic, compared to the prior year period. See “--Non-GAAP Measures” below
for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP and related disclosures.

NON-GAAP MEASURES

The following information provides reconciliations of the supplemental non-GAAP financial measures, as defined under the rules of the SEC, presented herein to
the most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. The Company has provided the non-GAAP financial
measures, which are not calculated or presented in accordance with GAAP, as supplemental information and in addition to the financial measures that are
calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. See notes to the “Net Earnings (loss) From Continuing Operations (GAAP)” to “Adjusted diluted net earnings
per common share (Non-GAAP measure)” reconciliation table for definitions of non-GAAP financial measures and related adjustments presented below.

These supplemental non-GAAP financial measures are presented because the Company's management has evaluated its financial results both including and
excluding the adjusted items or the effects of foreign currency translation, as applicable, and believes that the supplemental non-GAAP financial measures
presented provide additional perspective and insights when analyzing the core operating performance of the Company from period to period and trends in its
historical operating results. These supplemental non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered superior to, as a substitute for or as an alternative to, and
should be considered in conjunction with, the GAAP financial measures presented.

The Company also presents certain information related to current period operating results in “constant currency”, which is a non-GAAP financial measure. These
amounts are calculated by translating current period results at the foreign currency exchange rates used in the comparable period in the prior year. The Company
presents such constant currency financial information because it has significant operations outside of the U.S. reporting in currencies other than the U.S. dollar and
such presentation provides a framework to assess how its business performed excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

NON-GAAP RECONCILIATION

(in millions)
Three months ended May 31, 2021

United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Operating income (loss) (GAAP) $ 1,219 $ 36 $ (120) $ 1,134 
Adjustments to equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen 48 — — 48 
Acquisition-related amortization 138 20 — 158 
Transformational cost management 12 33 14 60 
LIFO provision 51 — — 51 
Acquisition-related costs 3 5 1 9 
Adjusted operating income (loss) (Non-GAAP measure) $ 1,471 $ 94 $ (105) $ 1,459 
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(in millions)
Three months ended May 31, 2020

United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Operating income (loss) (GAAP) $ 528 $ (2,151) $ (60) $ (1,683)
Adjustments to equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen (105) — — (105)
Acquisition-related amortization 77 16 — 94 
Transformational cost management 269 30 11 310 
LIFO provision 29 — — 29 
Acquisition-related costs 64 1 3 68 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 32 1,969 — 2,001 
Store optimization 10 — — 10 
Store damage and inventory losses 75 — — 75 
Adjusted operating income (loss) (Non-GAAP measure) $ 979 $ (135) $ (46) $ 798 

 (in millions)
 Nine months ended May 31, 2021

 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Operating income (loss) (GAAP) $ 1,543 $ 181 $ (292) $ 1,432 
Adjustments to equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen 1,575 — — 1,575 
Acquisition-related amortization 311 56 — 367 
Transformational cost management 213 80 44 338 
LIFO provision 85 — — 85 
Certain legal and regulatory accruals and settlements 60 — — 60 
Acquisition-related costs 2 8 14 25 
Adjusted operating income (loss) (Non-GAAP measure) $ 3,789 $ 326 $ (233) $ 3,881 

 (in millions)
 Nine months ended May 31, 2020

 United States International
Corporate and

Other
Walgreens Boots

Alliance, Inc.
Operating income (loss) (GAAP) $ 2,505 $ (1,960) $ (171) $ 374 
Transformational cost management 390 86 31 508 
Acquisition-related amortization 233 58 — 290 
LIFO provision 90 — — 90 
Acquisition-related costs 284 2 5 291 
Store optimization 49 — — 49 
Adjustments to equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen 47 — — 47 
Store damage and inventory losses 75 — — 75 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 32 1,969 — 2,001 
Adjusted operating income (loss) (Non-GAAP measure) $ 3,704 $ 155 $ (135) $ 3,724 
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(in millions)
 Three months ended May 31, Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Net Earnings (loss) From Continuing Operations (GAAP) $ 1,105 $ (1,794) $ 1,636 $ (157)

Adjustments to Operating income (loss):
Adjustments to equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen 48 (105) 1,575 47 
Acquisition-related amortization 158 94 367 290 
Transformational cost management 60 310 338 508 
Certain legal and regulatory accruals and settlements — — 60 — 
LIFO provision 51 29 85 90 
Acquisition-related costs 9 68 25 291 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets — 2,001 — 2,001 
Store optimization — 10 — 49 
Store damage and inventory losses — 75 — 75 
Total adjustments to operating income 325 2,481 2,449 3,350 

Adjustments to Other income (expense):
Net investment hedging (gain) loss 5 (2) 6 (6)
Impairment of equity method investment — 71 — 71 
Gain on sale of equity method investment (98) — (290) (1)
Total adjustments to other income (expense) (94) 69 (284) 64 

Adjustments to interest expense, net:
Early debt extinguishment 419 — 419 — 
Total adjustments to interest expense, net 419 — 419 — 

Adjustments to income tax provision (benefit):
U.S. tax law changes — — — (6)
Tax impact of adjustments 10 (180) (104) (350)
Equity method non-cash tax 17 53 (309) 52 
Total adjustments to income tax provision (benefit) 27 (127) (412) (303)

Adjustments to post tax equity earnings from other equity
method investments:
Adjustments to equity earnings in other equity method investments (557) 3 (520) 47 
Total adjustments to post tax equity earnings from other equity
method investments (557) 3 (520) 47 

Adjustments to net (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests:
Transformational cost management — — 2 — 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets — (14) — (14)
LIFO provision (1) — (7) — 
Acquisition-related amortization (30) — (46) — 
Total adjustments to net (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests (30) (14) (50) (14)
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Adjusted net earnings attributable to Continuing Operations
(Non-GAAP measure) $ 1,194 $ 618 $ 3,237 $ 2,985 

Net earnings attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. -
discontinued operations (GAAP) 92 86 279 241 
Acquisition-related amortization — 19 28 57 
Acquisition-related costs 39 — 49 — 
Transformational cost management (8) 4 1 15 
Tax impact of adjustments (5) (4) (15) (11)
Total adjustments to net earnings (loss) attributable to Walgreens
Boots Alliance, Inc. - discontinued operations $ 26 $ 19 $ 62 $ 61 

Adjusted net earnings attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance,
Inc. - discontinued operations (Non-GAAP measure) $ 119 $ 105 $ 342 $ 303 

Adjusted net earnings attributable to Walgreens Boots Alliance,
Inc. (Non-GAAP measure) $ 1,313 $ 723 $ 3,579 $ 3,288 

Diluted net earnings per common share - continuing operations
(GAAP) $ 1.27 $ (2.05) $ 1.89 $ (0.18)
Adjustments to operating income 0.38 2.83 2.83 3.79 
Adjustments to other income (expense) (0.11) 0.08 (0.33) 0.07 
Adjustments to interest expense, net 0.48 — 0.48 — 
Adjustments to income tax provision (benefit) 0.03 (0.14) (0.48) (0.34)
Adjustments to earnings from other equity method investments (0.64) — (0.60) 0.05 
Adjustments to net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling
interests (0.03) (0.02) (0.06) (0.02)
Adjusted diluted net earnings per common share - continuing
operations (Non-GAAP measure) $ 1.38 $ 0.71 $ 3.74 $ 3.37 

Diluted net earnings per common share - discontinued operations
(GAAP) $ 0.11 $ 0.10 $ 0.32 $ 0.27 
Total adjustments to net earnings attributable to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc. – discontinued operations 0.03 0.02 0.07 0.07
Adjusted diluted net earnings per common share - discontinued
operations (Non-GAAP measure) $ 0.14 $ 0.12 $ 0.39 $ 0.34 

Adjusted diluted net earnings per common share (Non-GAAP
measure) $ 1.51 $ 0.83 $ 4.13 $ 3.72 

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted (in millions) 867.0 876.1 866.2 884.7 
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1 Adjustments to equity earnings (loss) in AmerisourceBergen consist of the Company’s proportionate share of non-GAAP adjustments reported by AmerisourceBergen consistent
with the Company’s non-GAAP measures. The Company recognized equity losses in AmerisourceBergen of $1,373 million during the three months ended November 30, 2020.
These equity losses are primarily due to AmerisourceBergen's recognition of $5.6 billion, net of tax, charges related to its ongoing opioid litigation in its financial statements for the
three months period ended September 30, 2020.

2 Acquisition-related amortization includes amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets and inventory valuation adjustments. Amortization of acquisition-related intangible
assets includes amortization of intangibles assets such as customer relationships, trade names, trademarks and contract intangibles. Intangible asset amortization excluded from
the related non-GAAP measure represents the entire amount recorded within the Company’s GAAP financial statements. The revenue generated by the associated intangible
assets has not been excluded from the related non-GAAP measures. Amortization expense, unlike the related revenue, is not affected by operations of any particular period unless
an intangible asset becomes impaired or the estimated useful life of an intangible asset is revised. These charges are primarily recorded within selling, general and administrative
expenses. Business combination accounting principles require us to measure acquired inventory at fair value. The fair value of the inventory reflects cost of acquired inventory and
a portion of the expected profit margin. The acquisition-related inventory valuation adjustments excludes the expected profit margin component from cost of sales recorded under
the business combination accounting principles.

3 Transformational Cost Management Program and Store Optimization Program charges are costs associated with a formal restructuring plan. These charges are primarily recorded
within selling, general and administrative expenses. These costs do not reflect current operating performance and are impacted by the timing of restructuring activity.

4 Certain legal and regulatory accruals and settlements relate to significant charges associated with certain legal proceedings. The Company excludes these charges when
evaluating operating performance because it does not incur such charges on a predictable basis and exclusion of such charges enables more consistent evaluation of the
Company’s operating performance. These charges are recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses.

5 The Company’s United States segment inventory is accounted for using the last-in-first-out (“LIFO”) method. This adjustment represents the impact on cost of sales as if the United
States segment inventory is accounted for using first-in first-out (“FIFO”) method. The LIFO provision is affected by changes in inventory quantities, product mix, and manufacturer
pricing practices, which may be impacted by market and other external influences. Therefore, the Company cannot control the amounts recognized or timing of these items.

6 Acquisition-related costs are transaction and integration costs associated with certain merger, acquisition and divestitures related activities. These costs include all charges
incurred on certain mergers, acquisition and divestitures related activities, for example, including costs related to integration efforts for successful merger, acquisition and
divestitures activities. These charges are primarily recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses. These costs are significantly impacted by the timing and
complexity of the underlying merger, acquisition and divestitures related activities and do not reflect the Company’s current operating performance.

7 Gain or loss on certain derivative instruments used as economic hedges of the Company’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries. These charges are recorded within other income
(expense). We do not believe this volatility related to mark-to-market adjustment on the underlying derivative instruments reflects the Company’s operational performance.

8 Includes significant gain on sale of equity method investment. During the three and nine months ended May 31, 2021, the Company recorded a gain of $98 million and $290 million
respectively, in Other income due to a partial sale of ownership interests in Option Care Health by the Company's equity method investee HC Group Holdings.

9 Adjustments to income tax provision include adjustments to the GAAP basis tax provision commensurate with non-GAAP adjustments and certain discrete tax items including U.S.
tax law changes and equity method non-cash tax. These charges are recorded within income tax provision (benefit).

10 Adjustments to post tax equity earnings from other equity method investments consist of the proportionate share of certain equity method investees’ non-cash items or unusual or
infrequent items consistent with the Company’s non-GAAP adjustments. These charges are recorded within post tax earnings (loss) from other equity method investments.
Although the Company may have shareholder rights and board representation commensurate with its ownership interests in these equity method investees, adjustments relating to
equity method investments are not intended to imply that the Company has direct control over their operations and resulting revenue and expenses. Moreover, these non-GAAP
financial measures have limitations in that they do not reflect all revenue and expenses of these equity method investees. In the three months ended May 31, 2021 due to partial
sales of ownership interests in Option Care Health, our equity method investee HC Group Holdings lost the ability to control Option Care Health and, therefore, deconsolidated
Option Care Health in its financial statements. As a result of this deconsolidation, HC Group Holdings recognized a gain of $1.2 billion and the Company recorded its share of
equity earnings in HC Group Holdings of $576 million during the three months ended May 31, 2021.

11 Loss on early extinguishment of debt related to the Company's cash tender offers to partially purchase and retire $3.3 billion of long term U.S. denominated notes. The Company
excludes these charges to enable a more consistent evaluation of the Company's financial performance.

12 Goodwill and intangible assets arising from acquisition related activities are recorded by the Company following the analysis to determine the fair value of consideration paid and
the assignment of fair values to all tangible and intangible assets acquired. Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets do not relate to the ordinary course of the Company’s
business. The Company excludes these charges when evaluating operating performance because it does not incur such charges on a predictable basis and exclusion of such
charges enables more consistent evaluation of the Company’s operating performance. These charges are recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses.

13 Store damage and inventory losses as a result of looting in the U.S., net of insurance recoveries.
14 Due to the anti-dilutive effect resulting from the reported net loss, the impact of potentially dilutive securities on the per share amounts has been omitted from the quarterly

calculation of weighted-average common shares outstanding for diluted EPS for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2020.
15 Includes impact of potentially dilutive securities in the quarterly calculation of weighted-average common shares, diluted for adjusted diluted net earnings per common share

calculation purposes for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2020.
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The Company considers certain metrics presented in this report, such as comparable sales, comparable pharmacy sales, comparable retail sales, comparable
number of prescriptions, and comparable 30-day equivalent prescriptions, to be key performance indicators because the Company’s management has evaluated its
results of operations using these metrics and believes that these key performance indicators presented provide additional perspective and insights when analyzing
the core operating performance of the Company from period to period and trends in its historical operating results. These key performance indicators should not be
considered superior to, as a substitute for or as an alternative to, and should be considered in conjunction with, the GAAP financial measures presented herein.
These measures, which are described in more detail in this report, may not be comparable to similarly-titled performance indicators used by other companies.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash were $1.8 billion (including $0.7 billion in non-U.S. jurisdictions) as of May 31, 2021, compared to $0.9 billion
(including $0.4 billion in non-U.S. jurisdictions) as of May 31, 2020. Short-term investment objectives are primarily to minimize risk and maintain liquidity. To
attain these objectives, investment limits are placed on the amount, type and issuer of securities. Investments are principally in U.S. Treasury money market funds.

The Company's long-term capital policy is to: maintain a strong balance sheet and financial flexibility; reinvest in its core strategies; invest in strategic
opportunities that reinforce its core strategies and meet return requirements; and return surplus cash flow to stockholders in the form of dividends and share
repurchases over the long term. In June 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors reviewed and refined the Company’s dividend policy to set forth the Company’s
current intention to increase its dividend each year.

Cash provided by operations and the incurrence of debt are the principal sources of funds for expansion, investments, acquisitions, remodeling programs,
dividends to stockholders and stock repurchases. Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 was $4.3 billion, compared to
$3.4 billion for the prior year period. The $0.9 billion increase in cash provided by operating activities reflects increase in operating performance and higher cash
inflows from trade accounts payable, partially offset by higher cash outflows from accounts receivables. Changes in trade accounts payables and accounts
receivables are mainly driven by timing of payments and receipts.

Net cash used for investing activities was $1.3 billion for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 compared to $0.7 billion for the prior year period. The $0.7 billion
increase in cash used by investing activities is primarily driven by higher cash outflows from business, investment and asset acquisitions partially offset by higher
cash inflows from proceeds from sale of assets. Changes in business, investment and asset acquisitions in the period was primarily driven by acquisition in
Innovation Associates and increased investment in VillageMD. Changes in proceeds from sale of assets was primarily driven by partial sale of ownership interest
in Option Care Health by the Company's equity method investee HC Group Holdings. Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions was $0.7 billion for the nine
months ended May 31, 2021 compared to $0.6 billion for the prior year period.

For the nine months ended May 31, 2021, additions to property, plant and equipment were $1.0 billion compared to $1.0 billion in the prior year period. Capital
expenditures were as follows (in millions):
 Nine months ended May 31,
 2021 2020
United States $ 745 $ 743 
International 162 169 
Corporate 28 5 
Discontinued operations 67 45 
Total $ 1,001 $ 962 

Significant capital expenditures primarily relate to growth initiatives and information technology projects.
 
Net cash used for financing activities for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 was $1.9 billion, compared to $3.0 billion in the prior year period. In the nine
months ended May 31, 2021 there were $14.3 billion in net debt proceeds primarily from revolving credit facilities described below and commercial paper debt
compared to $16.5 billion in net proceeds in the prior year period. In the nine months ended May 31, 2021 there were $11.1 billion in payments of debt made
primarily for revolving credit facilities and commercial paper debt compared to $16.9 billion in nine months ended May 31, 2020. Financing activities during the
three months ended May 31, 2021 include partial purchase and retirement of $3.3 billion of long term debt using
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proceeds from the $3.8 billion delayed draw term loan. The Company repurchased shares totaling $110 million in the nine months ended May 31, 2021 to support
the needs of its employee stock plans compared to $1.4 billion in the prior year period which also included stock repurchase program described below. Cash
dividends paid were $1.2 billion during the nine months ended May 31, 2021, compared to $1.3 billion for the prior year period.

The Company expects to fund its working capital needs, capital expenditures, future acquisitions, dividend payments and debt service obligations from liquidity
sources including cash flow from operations, availability under existing credit facilities, commercial paper programs, working capital financing arrangements and
current cash and investment balances. The Company believes that these sources, and the ability to obtain other financing will provide adequate cash funds for the
Company’s foreseeable working capital needs, capital expenditures, future acquisitions, dividend payments and debt service obligations for at least the next 12
months. The Company’s cash requirements are subject to change as business conditions warrant and opportunities arise. The timing and size of any new business
ventures or acquisitions that the Company may complete may also impact its cash requirements. Additionally, the Company’s cash requirements, and its ability to
generate cash flow, have been and may continue to be adversely affected by COVID-19 and the resulting market volatility and instability. For further information
regarding the impact of COVID-19 on the Company, including on its liquidity and capital resources, please see Item 1A, Risk factors in the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020.

See Item 3, Qualitative and quantitative disclosures about market risk, below for a discussion of certain financing and market risks.

Stock repurchase program
In June 2018, the Company's Board of Director's approved a stock repurchase program (the “June 2018 stock repurchase program”), which authorized the
repurchase of up to $10.0 billion of the Company's common stock of which the Company had repurchased $8.0 billion as of May 31, 2021. The June 2018 stock
repurchase program has no specified expiration date. In July 2020, the Company announced that it was suspending activities under this program. The Company
may continue to repurchase stock to offset anticipated dilution from equity incentive plans.
The Company determines the timing and amount of repurchases, including repurchases to offset anticipated dilution from equity incentive plans, based on its
assessment of various factors, including prevailing market conditions, alternate uses of capital, liquidity and the economic environment. The Company has
repurchased, and may from time to time in the future repurchase, shares on the open market through Rule 10b5-1 plans, which enable the Company to repurchase
shares at times when we otherwise might be precluded from doing so under federal securities laws.

Commercial paper
The Company periodically borrows under its commercial paper program and may borrow under it in future periods. The Company had average daily U.S.
commercial paper outstanding of $2.3 billion and $2.6 billion at a weighted average interest rate of 0.47% and 2.33% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021 and
May 31, 2020, respectively. A subsidiary of the Company had average daily commercial paper outstanding, which was issued under the Joint HM Treasury and
Bank of England's COVID Corporate Financing Facility commercial paper program, of £300 million or approximately $424 million at a weighted average interest
rate of 0.43% for the nine months ended May 31, 2021. The subsidiary of the Company repaid the commercial paper issued under the Joint HM Treasury and
Bank of England's COVID Corporate Financing Facility commercial paper program on May 14, 2021.

Financing actions
On August 29, 2018, the Company entered into a revolving credit agreement (the “August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders and letter of credit
issuers from time to time party thereto. The August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement is an unsecured revolving credit facility with aggregate commitment in the
amount of $3.5 billion, with a letter of credit subfacility commitment amount of $500 million. The facility termination date is the earlier of (a) August 29, 2023,
subject to extension thereof pursuant to the August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement, and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the
revolving commitments pursuant to the August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement will bear
interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option, the alternate base rate or the Eurocurrency rate, in each case, plus an applicable margin
calculated based on the Company's credit ratings. As of May 31, 2021, there were no borrowings outstanding under the August 2018 Revolving Credit Agreement.
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On November 30, 2018, the Company entered into a $1.0 billion credit agreement, consisting of a $500 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility and a
$500 million senior unsecured term loan facility, with the lenders from time to time party thereto, on March 25, 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to
such credit agreement (such credit agreement as so amended, the “November 2018 Credit Agreement”) reflecting certain changes to the borrowing notice
provisions thereto. On April 2, 2020, the Company entered into a second amendment to the November 2018 Credit Agreement (such credit agreement as so further
amended, the “Amended November 2018 Credit Agreement”), which amendment became effective as of May 29, 2020. As of May 29, 2020, the $500 million
revolving credit facility portion of the November 2018 Credit Agreement was converted into a term loan facility, such that the Amended November 2018 Credit
Agreement consists of a $1.0 billion senior unsecured term loan facility. The facility termination date is the earlier of (a) May 29, 2021 and (b) the date of
acceleration of all loans under the Amended November 2018 Credit Agreement pursuant to its terms. Borrowings under the Amended November 2018 Credit
Agreement will bear interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, the alternate base rate or the Eurocurrency rate, plus an applicable
margin of 1.25% in the case of Eurocurrency rate loans and 0.125% in the case of alternative base rate loans. The November 2018 Credit Agreement was repaid in
full on April 23, 2021.

On December 5, 2018, the Company entered into a $1.0 billion term loan credit agreement with the lenders from time to time party thereto and, on August 9,
2019, the Company entered into an amendment to such credit agreement (such credit agreement as so amended, the “December 2018 Credit Agreement”) to
permit the Company to borrow, repay and reborrow amounts borrowed thereunder prior to the maturity date. On April 2, 2020, the Company amended and restated
the December 2018 Credit Agreement (such credit agreement as so amended and restated, the “A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement”).
The A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement governs a $2.0 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility, consisting of the initial $1.0 billion senior unsecured
revolving facility (the “Initial Facility”) previously governed by the December 2018 Credit Agreement and a new $1.0 billion senior unsecured revolving credit
facility (the “New Facility”). The facility termination date is the earlier of (a) January 29, 2021 (the “Initial Maturity Date”) (which date shall be extended to
February 26, 2021 or July 31, 2021 pursuant to the terms of the A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement if the Company extends the maturity date of certain of its
existing credit agreements or enters into new bank or bond financings with a certain maturity date and above an aggregate principal amount as described in the
A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement) and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the commitments pursuant to the A&R December
2018 Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement will bear interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to, at the
Company’s option, the alternate base rate or the Eurocurrency rate, plus an applicable margin of (i) in the case of the Initial Facility from April 2, 2020 through
and including the Initial Maturity Date, 0.75% in the case of Eurocurrency rate loans and 0.00% in the case of alternate base rate loans and (ii) in the case of the
New Facility and the Initial Facility after the Initial Maturity Date, 1.50% in the case of Eurocurrency rate loans and 0.50% in the case of alternate base rate loans.
The A&R December 2018 Credit Agreement was further amended on December 23, 2020 whereby the new facility was terminated in full and the existing facility
matured in January 2021.

On January 18, 2019, the Company entered into a $2.0 billion 364-day revolving credit agreement (as extended, the “January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit
Agreement”) with the lenders from time to time party thereto. The January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement is a senior unsecured 364-day revolving
credit facility, with an original facility termination date of 364 days following January 31, 2019, subject to extension. On December 18, 2019, the Company
entered into an Extension Agreement (the “Extension Agreement”) relating to the January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement with the lenders party
thereto and Mizuho, as administrative agent. The Extension Agreement extended the Maturity Date (as defined in the January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit
Agreement) for an additional period of 364 days to January 28, 2021. Such extension became effective on January 30, 2020. Borrowings under the January 2019
364-Day Revolving Credit Agreement will bear interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option, the alternate base rate or the
Eurocurrency rate, in each case, plus an applicable margin calculated based on the Company’s credit ratings. The January 2019 364-Day Revolving Credit
Agreement was partially terminated in accordance with its terms and conditions, reducing the amount available to $0.5 billion as of December 23, 2020,
concurrently with the execution of the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement described below. The outstanding facility amount of $1.5 billion was terminated on
January 28, 2021.

On August 30, 2019, the Company entered into three $500 million revolving credit agreements (together, the “August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreements” and
each individually, an “August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders from time to time party thereto. Each of the August 2019 Revolving Credit
Agreements are senior unsecured revolving credit facilities, with facility termination dates of the earlier of (a) 18 months following August 30, 2019, subject to
extension thereof pursuant to the applicable August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreement, and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the
commitments pursuant to the applicable August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreement. Borrowings under each of the August 2019 Revolving Credit Agreements will
bear interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option, the alternate base rate or the Eurocurrency rate, plus an applicable margin of 0.95%
in the case of Eurocurrency rate loans. This revolving credit agreement was terminated in full on December 23, 2020.
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The Company entered into a $750 million revolving credit agreement on April 1, 2020 (the “April 2020 Revolving Bilateral Credit Agreement”) and a $1.325
billion revolving credit agreement on April 2, 2020 (the “April 2020 Revolving Club Credit Agreement” and together with the April 2020 Revolving Bilateral
Credit Agreement, the “Other April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreements”) with the lenders from time to time party thereto. Each of the Other April 2020
Revolving Credit Agreements is a senior unsecured revolving credit facility, with a facility termination dates of the earlier of (a) March 31, 2021 (which date shall
be shortened pursuant to the terms of the applicable Other April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement if the Company does not extend the maturity date of certain of
its existing credit agreements or enter into new bank or bond financings with a certain maturity date and above an aggregate principal amount as described in the
applicable April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement) and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the commitments pursuant to the
applicable Other April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the Other April 2020 Revolving Credit Agreements bear interest at a fluctuating rate
per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, the Eurocurrency rate or the alternate base rate, plus an applicable margin of 1.25% in the case of Eurocurrency rate
loans. This revolving credit agreement was terminated in full on December 23, 2020.

On April 7, 2020, the Company and with WBA Financial Services Limited, a private limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales
(“WBAFSL”), as co-borrowers, entered into a $500 million revolving credit agreement (the “April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders from
time to time party thereto. The April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement is a senior unsecured revolving credit facility, with a facility termination date of the
earlier of (a) 364-days from April 7, 2020 and (b) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the commitments pursuant to the April 7, 2020
Revolving Credit Agreement. The Company and WBAFSL are co-borrowers under the April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the
April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement, the Company provides a guarantee of any obligations of WBAFSL under the April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit
Agreement. Borrowings under the April 7, 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement bear interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, the
Eurocurrency rate or the alternate base rate, plus an applicable margin of 1.50% in the case of Eurocurrency rate loans. This revolving credit agreement was
terminated in full on December 23, 2020.

On April 15, 2020, the Company issued in an underwritten public offering $0.5 billion of 3.20% notes due 2030 and $1.0 billion of 4.10% notes due 2050. Total
issuance costs relating to the notes, including underwriting discounts and estimated offering expenses were $13 million. The Company partially purchased and
retired $0.2 billion of its outstanding $1.0 billion, 4.10% notes due 2050 pursuant to the debt tender offer completed on April 26, 2021.

On October 20, 2020, the Company redeemed in full the £400 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of its 2.875% notes due 2020 issued by the
Company on November 20, 2014.

On December 23, 2020, the Company entered into a $1.25 billion senior unsecured 364-day revolving credit agreement and a $2.25 billion senior unsecured 18-
month revolving credit facility, with a swing line subfacility commitment amount of $350 million, with designated borrowers from time to time party thereto and
lenders from time to time party thereto. The 364-Day Facility’s termination date is the earlier of (i) 364 days from December 23, 2020, the effective date (subject
to the extension thereof pursuant to the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement) and (ii) the date of termination in whole of the aggregate amount of the revolving
commitments under the 364-Day Facility pursuant to the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement. The 18-Month Facility’s termination date is the earlier of (i) 18
months from the effective date (subject to the extension thereof pursuant to the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement) and (ii) the date of termination in whole of the
aggregate amount of the revolving commitments under the 18-Month Facility pursuant to the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement. As of May 31, 2021, there were
$400 million borrowings outstanding under the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement.

After the entry into the 2020 Revolving Credit Agreement and the full or partial termination of the Company’s other credit agreements as discussed herein, as of
May 31, 2021, the Company had an aggregate borrowing capacity of $10.8 billion including funds already drawn.

On April 9, 2021 the Company entered into a delayed draw term loan credit agreement (the “April 2021 Credit Agreement”) with the lenders from time to time
party thereto. The purpose of the loan was to fund the Company's April 26, 2021 cash tender offer to partially purchase and retire $3.30 billion of long term U.S.
dollar denominated notes. The April 2021 Credit Agreement was initially a $2.75 billion senior unsecured delayed draw term loan facility, with an original facility
termination date (the "Initial Maturity Date") of the earliest of (x) October 9, 2021, (y) the date of acceleration of all term loans and termination of all
commitments pursuant to the April 2021 Credit Agreement and (z) the date of prepayment of all loans and the termination of all commitments pursuant to the
April 2021 Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the April 2021 Credit
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Agreement bear interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, the alternate base rate or the Eurocurrency rate, plus an applicable
margin of (i) on and prior to the Initial Maturity Date, 0.70% in the case of Eurocurrency rate loans and 0.00% in the case of alternate base rate loans and (ii) after
the Initial Maturity Date, 0.75% in the case of Eurocurrency rate loans and 0.00% in the case of alternate base rate loans. On April 23, 2021 the April 2021 Credit
Agreement term loan facility amount was increased to $3.8 billion. As of May 31, 2021, there were $3.8 billion of borrowings outstanding under the April 2021
Credit Agreement. On June 1, 2021 the Company completed the previously announced sale of the Company’s Alliance Healthcare business and used a portion of
the Transaction proceeds to repay all borrowings outstanding under the April 9, 2021 Credit Agreement.

Tender offer to purchase debt
On April 26, 2021, the Company entered into a cash tender offer to partially purchase and retire $3.3 billion of long term U.S. dollar denominated notes with a
weighted average interest rate of 4.02%, using funds drawn down from the $3.8 billion April 2021 Credit Agreement. The Company recognized a loss of
$419 million related to the early extinguishment of debt, within Interest expense, which includes $386 million of redemption premium paid in cash. The cash
payments related to the early extinguishment of debt are classified as cash outflows from financing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows. On June
1, 2021, the Company completed the previously announced sale of the Company’s Alliance Healthcare business and used a portion of the Transaction proceeds to
repay all of the outstanding amount owed on the April 2021 Credit Agreement that funded the bond tender completed by the Company on April 26, 2021.

Debt covenants
Each of the Company’s credit facilities described above contain a covenant to maintain, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of consolidated debt to total
capitalization not to exceed 0.60:1.00, subject to increase in certain circumstances set forth in the applicable credit agreement. The credit facilities also contain
various other customary covenants. As of May 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with all such applicable covenants.

Credit ratings
As of June 30, 2021, the credit ratings of Walgreens Boots Alliance were:
Rating agency Long-term debt rating Commercial paper rating Outlook
Fitch BBB- F3 Negative
Moody’s Baa2 P-2 Negative
Standard & Poor’s BBB A-2 Negative

In assessing the Company’s credit strength, each rating agency considers various factors including the Company’s business model, capital structure, financial
policies and financial performance. There can be no assurance that any particular rating will be assigned or maintained. The Company’s credit ratings impact its
borrowing costs, access to capital markets and operating lease costs. The rating agency ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the Company’s debt
securities or commercial paper. Each rating may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency and should be evaluated
independently of any other rating.

AmerisourceBergen relationship
As of May 31, 2021, the Company owned 56,854,867 AmerisourceBergen common shares representing approximately 27.7% of its outstanding common stock
based on the share count publicly reported by AmerisourceBergen in its most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and had designated one member of
AmerisourceBergen’s board of directors. As of May 31, 2021, the Company can acquire up to an additional 8,398,752 AmerisourceBergen shares in the open
market and thereafter designate another member of AmerisourceBergen’s board of directors, subject in each case to applicable legal and contractual requirements.
The amount of permitted open market purchases is subject to increase or decrease in certain circumstances. Subject to applicable legal and contractual
requirements, share purchases may be made from time to time in open market transactions or pursuant to instruments and plans complying with Rule 10b5-1. See
Note 6 Equity method investments, to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for further information.
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On January 6, 2021, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with AmerisourceBergen pursuant to which AmerisourceBergen agreed to purchase
the majority of the Company's pharmaceutical wholesale operations, as well as a portion of the Company’s retail pharmacy international businesses in Europe, for
$6.275 billion in cash (subject to customary purchase price adjustments) and 2 million shares of common stock of AmerisourceBergen. After giving effect to the
Transaction, the Company beneficially owns approximately 28.4% of AmerisourceBergen’s outstanding common stock, based on the share count publicly reported
by AmerisourceBergen in its most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. See “Recent Developments” above and Note 2 Discontinued operations to the
Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements for additional information.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company does not have any unconsolidated special purpose entities and, except as described herein, the Company does not have significant exposure to any
off-balance sheet arrangements. The term “off-balance sheet arrangement” generally means any transaction, agreement or other contractual arrangement to which
an entity not consolidated by the Company is a party, under which we have: (i) any obligation arising under a guarantee contract, derivative instrument or variable
interest; or (ii) a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to such entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support for
such assets.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS
There have been no material changes, outside of the ordinary course of business, in the Company's outstanding contractual obligations disclosed in the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2020.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP and include amounts based on management’s prudent judgments and
estimates. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Management believes that any reasonable deviation from those judgments and estimates would not have
a material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. To the extent that the estimates used differ from actual results, however,
adjustments to the statement of earnings and corresponding balance sheet accounts would be necessary. These adjustments would be made in future periods. For a
discussion of our significant accounting policies, please see the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020. Some of the
more significant estimates include business combinations, leases, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment, cost of sales and inventory, equity
method investments, pension and postretirement benefits and income taxes.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
A discussion of new accounting pronouncements is described in Note 18 New accounting pronouncements, to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements
of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and is incorporated herein by reference.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report and other documents that we file or furnish with the SEC contain forward-looking statements that are based on current expectations, estimates,
forecasts and projections about our future performance, our business, our beliefs and our management’s assumptions. In addition, we, or others on our behalf, may
make forward-looking statements in press releases or written statements, on the Company’s website or in our communications and discussions with investors and
analysts in the normal course of business through meetings, webcasts, phone calls, conference calls and other communications. Some of such forward-looking
statements may be based on certain data and forecasts relating to our business and industry that we have obtained from internal surveys, market research, publicly
available information and industry publications. Industry publications, surveys and market research generally state that the information they provide has been
obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. Statements that are not historical facts
are forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, those regarding estimates of and goals for future financial and operating performance as well as
forward-looking statements concerning the potential impacts on our business of the spread and impact of COVID-19, the expected execution and effect of our
business strategies, our cost-savings and growth initiatives, pilot programs, strategic partnerships and initiatives, and restructuring activities and the amounts and
timing of their expected impact and delivery of estimated cost savings, our commercial agreement with AmerisourceBergen, the arrangements and transactions
contemplated by our framework agreement with AmerisourceBergen and their possible effects, estimates of the impact of developments on our earnings, earnings
per share and other financial and operating metrics, cough, cold and flu season, prescription volume, pharmacy sales trends, prescription margins and
reimbursement rates, changes in generic prescription drug prices, retail margins, number and location of new store openings, network participation, vendor, payer
and
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customer relationships and terms, possible new contracts or contract extensions, competition, economic and business conditions, outcomes of litigation and
regulatory matters, the level of capital expenditures, industry trends, demographic trends, growth strategies, financial results, cost reduction initiatives, impairment
or other charges, acquisition and joint venture synergies, competitive strengths and changes in legislation or regulations. All statements in the future tense and all
statements accompanied by words such as “expect,” “likely,” “outlook,” “forecast,” “preliminary,” “pilot,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “can,” “will,” “project,”
“intend,” “plan,” “goal,” “guidance,” “target,” “aim,” “continue,” “sustain,” “synergy,” “transform,” “accelerate,” “model,” “long-term,” “on track,” “on
schedule,” “headwind,” “tailwind,” “believe,” “seek,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “upcoming,” “to come,” “may,” “possible,” “assume,” and variations of such
words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements, which are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions, known or unknown, that could
cause actual results to vary materially from those indicated or anticipated. These risks, assumptions and uncertainties include those described in Item 1A, Risk
factors, in the Walgreens Boots Alliance Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020 and in other documents that we file or furnish
with the SEC. If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materializes, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from
those indicated or anticipated by such forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements we make or that are made on our behalf are qualified by these
cautionary statements. Accordingly, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are
made. Except to the extent required by law, we do not undertake, and expressly disclaim, any duty or obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statement
after the date of this report, whether as a result of new information, future events, changes in assumptions or otherwise.
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Item 3. Quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk
Interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate volatility with regard to existing variable-rate debt instruments and future incurrences of fixed or variable-rate debt,
which exposure primarily relates to movements in various interest rates, such as U.S treasury rates and commercial paper rates. From time to time, the Company
uses interest rate swaps and forward-starting interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to the impact of interest rate changes on existing debt and future debt
issuances respectively, to reduce the volatility of financing costs and, based on current and projected market conditions, achieve a desired proportion of fixed-rate
versus floating-rate debt. Generally under these swaps, the Company agrees with a counterparty to exchange the difference between fixed-rate and floating-rate
interest amounts based on an agreed upon notional principal amount.

On March 5, 2021, the UK Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”), which regulates the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, issued an announcement on
the future cessation or loss of representativeness of LIBOR benchmark settings currently published by ICE Benchmark Administration. That announcement
confirmed that LIBOR will either cease to be provided by any administrator or will no longer be representative after December 31, 2021 for all non-USD LIBOR
reference rates, and for 1W and 2M USD LIBOR and after June 30, 2023 for other USD LIBOR reference rates. Certain of our credit facilities provide that, under
certain circumstances set forth in such credit facilities, we and the administrative agent may amend the applicable credit facility to replace LIBOR with an
alternate benchmark rate, giving due consideration to any evolving or then existing convention for similar syndicated credit facilities in the U.S. market for
alternative benchmarks. Such alternative benchmark rate could include the secured overnight financing rate, also known as SOFR, published by the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York

Information regarding the Company's transactions are set forth in Note 9 Financial instruments, to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements. These
financial instruments are sensitive to changes in interest rates. On May 31, 2021, the Company had no material long-term debt obligations that had floating interest
rates. The amounts exclude the impact of any associated derivative contracts.

Foreign currency exchange rate risk
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, primarily with respect to the British pound sterling and Euro, and certain other foreign
currencies, which may affect its net investment in foreign subsidiaries and may cause fluctuations in cash flows related to foreign denominated transactions. The
Company is also exposed to the translation of foreign currency earnings to the U.S. dollar. The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
against the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on non-functional currency cash flows. These transactions are almost exclusively less than 12 months in maturity.
In addition, the Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts that are not designated in hedging relationships to offset, in part, the impacts of certain
intercompany activities (primarily associated with intercompany financing transactions).

The Company’s foreign currency derivative instruments are sensitive to changes in exchange rates. A hypothetical 1% change in foreign currency exchange rates
versus the U.S. dollar would change the fair value of the foreign currency derivatives held as of May 31, 2021, by approximately $43 million. The foreign
currency derivatives are intended to partially hedge anticipated transactions, foreign currency trade payables and receivables and net investments in foreign
subsidiaries.

Equity price risk
Changes in AmerisourceBergen common stock price may have a significant impact on the fair value of the equity investment in AmerisourceBergen described in
Note 6 Equity method investments, to the Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements. See “--Investment in AmerisourceBergen” above.
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Item 4. Controls and procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered
by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The controls evaluation was conducted under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management,
including its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”). Based upon the controls evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that,
as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required
to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting
In the ordinary course of business, the Company reviews its internal control over financial reporting and makes changes to its systems and processes that are
intended to enhance such controls and increase efficiency while maintaining an effective internal control environment. Changes may include such activities as
updating existing systems, automating manual processes, standardizing controls and modifying monitoring controls.

As we transform our business processes, we continue to make strategic changes in how we perform certain key business functions. These changes include the
continued leveraging of extended workforces via third-party outsource arrangements as well as our continued implementation of new information systems.
Specifically, the Company is currently implementing a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system. This project is a multi-year initiative and is intended to
improve the efficiency and effectiveness of certain financial and business transaction processes, as well as the underlying systems environment. These initiatives
are not being implemented in response to any identified internal control deficiency or weakness. As these changes occur, we will evaluate quarterly whether such
changes materially affect, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

In connection with the evaluation pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(d) of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rule 13a-15(f)) by the Company’s management, including its CEO and CFO, no changes during the quarter ended May 31, 2021 were identified that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent limitations on effectiveness of controls
Our management, including the CEO and CFO, do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will
prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that
the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake.
Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The
design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of controls effectiveness to future periods are subject to
risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
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Part II.  Other Information

Item 1. Legal proceedings
The information in response to this item is incorporated herein by reference to Note 11 Commitments and contingencies, to the Consolidated Condensed Financial
Statements of this Quarterly Report.

As previously disclosed, the Company has been under investigation by certain counties within the State of California for alleged noncompliance with state
hazardous waste regulations. The Company has worked with state and local officials in an effort to resolve this matter. The Company executed a settlement
agreement in October 2020 which includes a monetary payment and injunctive provisions, including funding of supplemental environmental projects. The total
settlement value is $3.5 million. On November 16, 2020, a number of California District Attorneys submitted the signed settlement agreement and a complaint to
a California state court in Alameda County (People of the State of California v. Walgreen Co., Case No. RG20081172) for review and approval. The settlement
was approved by the court on December 17, 2020 and shall be in effect for three years.

Item 1A. Risk factors
In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in item 1A. “Risk factors” in the Walgreens Boots
Alliance Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2020, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results.

Item 2. Unregistered sales of equity securities and use of proceeds
The following table provides information about purchases by the Company during the quarter ended May 31, 2021 of equity securities that are registered by the
Company pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act. Subject to applicable law, share purchases may be made from time to time in open market transactions,
privately negotiated transactions including accelerated share repurchase agreements, or pursuant to instruments and plans complying with Rule 10b5-1.
 Issuer purchases of equity securities

Period
Total number of shares

purchased by month
Average price paid

per share

Total number of shares purchased
by month as part of publicly

announced repurchase programs

Approximate dollar value of shares
that may yet be purchased under the

plans or program
03/01/21 - 03/31/21 — $ — — $ 2,003,419,960 
04/01/21 - 04/30/21 — — — 2,003,419,960 
05/01/21 - 05/31/21 — — — 2,003,419,960 

— $ — — $ 2,003,419,960 

In June 2018, Walgreens Boots Alliance authorized a stock repurchase program, which authorized the repurchase of up to $10.0 billion of Walgreens Boots
Alliance common stock. This program has no specified expiration date. In July 2020, the Company announced that it had suspended activities under this
program.

1 1

1
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Item 5. Other information
None

Item 6. Exhibits
The agreements included as exhibits to this report are included to provide information regarding their terms and not intended to provide any other factual or
disclosure information about the Company or the other parties to the agreements. The agreements may contain representations and warranties by each of the
parties to the applicable agreement that were made solely for the benefit of the other parties to the applicable agreement, and:

• should not in all instances be treated as categorical statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one of the parties if those
statements prove to be inaccurate;

• may have been qualified by disclosures that were made to the other party in connection with the negotiation of the applicable agreement, which
disclosures are not necessarily reflected in the agreement;

• may apply standards of materiality in a way that is different from what may be viewed as material to you or other investors; and

• were made only as of the date of the applicable agreement or such other date or dates as may be specified in the agreement and are subject to more
recent developments.

Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.
Exhibit No. Description SEC Document Reference

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Walgreens
Boots Alliance, Inc.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K12B (File No. 1-
36759) filed with the SEC on December 31, 2014.

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-
36759) filed with the SEC on June 10, 2016.

10.1 Amended and Restated AmerisourceBergen Shareholders Agreement,
dated as of June 1, 2021, between AmerisourceBergen Corporation
and Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-
36759) filed with the SEC on June 4, 2021.

10.2* Agreement between Walgreens Boots Alliance Services Limited and
Alexander W. Gourlay, dated June 30, 2021.

Filed herewith.

10.3* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-
36759) filed with the SEC on April 26, 2021.

10.4 Delayed Draw Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of April 9,
2021, by and among Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc., the Lenders from
time to time party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Administrative Agent.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-
36759) filed with the SEC on April 9, 2021.

10.5 Increase Amendment, dated April 23, 2021, to the Delayed Draw
Term Loan Credit Agreement.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-
36759) filed with the SEC on April 23, 2021.

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Filed herewith.
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31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Filed herewith.

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

Furnished herewith.

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

Furnished herewith.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (The following financial information
from this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May
31, 2021 formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensive Business Reporting
Language) includes: (i) the Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets;
(ii) the Consolidated Condensed Statements of Equity; (iii) the
Consolidated Condensed Statement of Earnings; (iv) the Consolidated
Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income; (v) the
Consolidated Condensed Statements of Cash Flows; and (vi) Notes
Financial Statements).

Filed herewith.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Filed herewith.
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document Filed herewith.
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document Filed herewith.
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document Filed herewith.
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document Filed herewith.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL
document and included in Exhibit 101)

Filed herewith.

___________________________

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.
 (Registrant)
  
Dated: July 1, 2021 /s/ James Kehoe
 James Kehoe
 Executive Vice President, Global Chief Financial Officer and Acting Chief

Accounting Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer & Principal Accounting Officer)
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WITHOUT PREJUDICE & SUBJECT TO CONTRACT

THIS AGREEMENT is made on the 30th day of June, 2021 between ALEX GOURLAY of 607 Longwood Avenue, Glencoe, IL

60022, USA ("the Employee") and WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE SERVICES LIMITED of 2 The Heights, Brooklands,

Weybridge, Surrey, KT13 0NY ("the Company").

INTRODUCTION

A.     The Employee’s employment with the Company will end on 31 December 2021.

B.     The parties wish to record the terms agreed between them on which the Employee’s employment will come to an end.

C.    The Company acknowledges and confirms that all appropriate processes have been carried out and approvals obtained to

make the payments under this Agreement.

D. The Employee agrees that he accepts the payments and other arrangements detailed below and will not make any complaint

or claim concerning his employment and/or its termination in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

E.    The Employee will complete the Reaffirmation Letter on or around the Termination Date.

AGREEMENT

It is agreed between the parties as follows:

1.      The Employee’s employment by the Company shall terminate on 31 December 2021 (“the Termination Date”). With effect

from 17 May 2021, and continuing to the Termination Date, the Employee shall serve as senior adviser to the CEO (the

“Transition Period”). For the avoidance of doubt, during the Transition Period, the Employee will continue to perform services

in good faith, as may be reasonably required at the primary direction of the CEO. During the Transition Period, Employee will

continue to be responsible for compliance with applicable policies and procedures governing Company executives, with his

obligations under this Agreement and under his contract of employment and Assigment Agreement (in both cases as

modified by this Agreement), and with his restrictive covenant obligations referenced in Clause 25 below. The Employee will

be paid his contractual salary and benefits (less such deductions for income tax and employee’s National Insurance

contributions and such other tax withholdings as the Company is required to make by law) up to and including that date. The



Employee will be paid in lieu of any accrued but untaken annual leave. However, the Parties may mutually agree to a period

before the Termination Date being spent on annual leave in order to discharge some or all of the Employee’s annual leave,

with the balance (if any) being paid in lieu. Any payment will be subject to such deductions for income tax and employee’s

National Insurance contributions and such other tax withholdings as the Company is required to make by law.

2.  The Company will pay you in lieu of notice (£798,785) in 12 equal monthly instalments of £66,565.42 (less such deductions

for income tax and employee’s National Insurance contributions and such other tax withholdings as the Company is required

to make by law) each month commencing in January 2022 (the “Notice Payments”).

3.  Notice Payments will be made on or around the last day in each month and will continue until December 2022. The parties

agree that the Notice Payments shall not be impacted or reduced if the Employee secures alternative employment or other

work before the end of December 2022, and that the Employee shall not be under a duty to make reasonable efforts to

secure such alternative employment or work of any kind. As such, the relevant provisions in the Contract of Employment

shall have no effect.

4.  The parties accordingly believe that the Employee’s Post-Employment Notice Period and Post-Employment Notice Pay are

nil.

5.      Subject to clause 1, the Company will pay to the Employee within 28 days of (1) the Termination Date or (2) receipt by the
Company of a copy of this Agreement signed by the Employee, a copy of the Adviser’s Certificate signed by the adviser

referenced at clause 26, a copy of the Reaffirmation Letter signed by you and a copy of the completed “Reaffirmation Letter
– Adviser Certificate” at Schedule D (whichever is later) a payment (less such deductions for income tax and employee’s
National Insurance contributions and such other tax withholdings as the Company is required to make by law) as pay in lieu
of outstanding holiday entitlement as at the Termination Date.

6.      Subject and conditional on the Employee complying with the terms of this Agreement the Company will pay (less such

deductions for income tax and employee’s National Insurance contributions and such other tax withholdings as the Company

is required to make by law) to the Employee within 28 days of the Termination Date or receipt by the Company of both a

copy of this Agreement signed by the Employee and a copy of the Adviser’s Certificate signed by the adviser referenced at

clause 26 (whichever is later):



a.  the sum of £1,413,235 (which includes the Employee’s Statutory Redundancy Payment) (“the Severance

Payment”); and

b. An ex-gratia payment of £1,000,000 (the “Ex-Gratia Payment”)

7. In this regard, the Company and the Employee believe the following to be correct:

(a)     The first £30,000 of the combined Severance Payment and Ex-Gratia Payment will be tax free, as a termination

award under the threshold within the meaning of sections 402A(1) and 403 of ITEPA.

(b)     The balance of the combined Severance Payment and Ex-Gratia Payment will be taxable as a termination award

exceeding the threshold within the meaning of sections 402A(1) and 403 of ITEPA. The Company shall accordingly

deduct income tax from it at the appropriate rate.

8.  The Company will procure the provision of professional assistance (including associated advice) in the preparation and filing

of US and UK tax returns (including any queries in relation to those returns) for all tax years associated with employment

income, including equity, where a filing requirement arises. At minimum this would cover 2021, 2022 and 2023 US along with

2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 UK tax return support. In addition, this will include support in relation to any queries on these

returns and any prior year returns. The level of such support will be decided at the Company’s discretion, acting reasonably.

For the avoidance of doubt, this support does not include continued tax equalization following the Employee’s departure from

the US. The Employee shall retain access to any Company documentation relating to his personal tax affairs which his tax

advisors may reasonably require to assist in the preparation and filing of his US and or UK tax returns and in relation to any

queries on current year returns and any prior year returns.

9.  The Employee will be eligible for a bonus in relation to the fiscal year 2021 and a pro-rated bonus for the fiscal year 2022 for

the period from 1 September 2021 to 31 December 2021. Any such bonus payment will be subject to the terms of the WBA

Management Incentive Plan (the “MIP”) and subject to approval by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of

WBA. Any bonus payable will be subject to deductions for income tax and National Insurance contributions and such other

tax withholdings as the Company is required to make by law. For the avoidance of doubt, any individual performance

adjustments for such bonuses shall be strictly based on the assessment of the Employee’s performance and contributions

during the relevant bonus periods, and without regard to the pending or actual termination of employment of the Employee.



10.  Pursuant to the Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan Amended and Restated Effective July 11,

2017 (“the Plan”), the treatment of the Employee’s existing awards will be as set out in Schedule B to this letter. For the

avoidance of doubt, no awards will be made to the Employee under the Plan in 2021. The treatment of any awards will be

subject to the terms of the Plan.

11.     The Company will on request from a bona fide potential employer provide a written reference for the Employee in

accordance with the draft in Schedule A attached. Oral requests for a reference will be responded to in similar terms.

12.     The Company agrees and undertakes that it will not make or cause to be made or publish or cause to be published nor

authorise, facilitate or condone and will make reasonable endeavours to procure that all directors and senior employees will

not make or cause to be made or publish or cause to be published nor authorise, facilitate or condone any derogatory or

disparaging comments or remarks about the Employee.

13.      The Employee undertakes that he will not at any time make any disparaging or derogatory comments or statements

concerning the Company, any Associated Company or their directors or senior employees.

14.      The Employee agrees to keep confidential and not to disclose or reveal the terms of this Agreement to any third party,

other than his immediate family, professional or legal advisers, a government authority or as required by law.

15.      In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the Employee will refrain from instituting a complaint against the

Company or any Associated Company or any officer, employee or agent thereof before an Employment Tribunal in respect

of any claim arising out of his employment by the Company or its termination including but not limited to any claim:

• for a redundancy payment

• for breach of contract and/or in relation to any unpaid salary or benefits and/or payment for accrued but untaken holiday

• that the Company dismissed him unfairly (including any claim relating to the circumstances and/or the manner of the

termination of the Employee’s employment)

• for discrimination, harassment and/or victimisation on grounds related to or arising from age, sex (including equal pay

or equality of terms), maternity or pregnancy, race, colour, nationality, ethnic origin, disability, sexual orientation,

marriage or civil partnership, gender re-assignment, religion or belief



• for unlawful deductions from wages

• for failure to pay national minimum wage

• for failure to provide adequate rest breaks or holiday

• for less favourable treatment on the grounds of part time status or fixed term status

• for being subjected to a detriment on the grounds of zero hours

• in relation to parental rights or flexible working

• for failure to inform and consult in accordance with the law

• relating to his personal data.

16.      The Employee accepts the payments made by the Company and described above in full and final settlement of all claims

that he has or may have against the Company or any Associated Company arising out of his employment or its termination

including any claims in respect of which an Employment Tribunal has no jurisdiction. This provision shall not affect any claim

by the Employee for breach of this Agreement, for damages for personal injury or his accrued rights under any pension

scheme (except where any such claim relates to or arises out of age, sex, race, disability, sexual orientation, marriage or civil

partnership, pregnancy or maternity, gender re-assignment, religion or belief discrimination; or any claim relating to the

circumstances and/or manner of the termination of the Employee’s employment) although the Employee warrants that as at

the date of this Agreement he is not aware of any circumstances which could give rise to such a claim.

17.      The Employee further confirms that he has not commenced and will not commence any proceedings in the Employment

Tribunals, High Court, County Court or otherwise in any jurisdiction against the Company or any Associated Company or any

of its or their respective officers, employees or agents in respect of any claim which is settled by this Agreement.

18.      The Employee warrants that as at the date of this Agreement he is not aware of any other claim or claims that he has or

may have against the Company or any Associated Company than those set out in this Agreement.

19.  This release of claims is intended to include the release of any claims the Employee may have against the Company or its

affiliates, subsidiaries or any Associated Company in any jurisdiction, including but not limited to claims arising under the

laws of the United States, the State of Illinois or any individual state or local jurisdiction. In particular and without waiver, the

Employee specifically



releases claims he may have pursuant the United States Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), Title VII of the

Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Title VII”), or any United States federal, state or local law governing employment including the

Illinois Human Rights Act (“IHRA”), the Employee has been provided with at least 21 days to consider his release of claims

under United States federal and state law and may revoke his release of claims under ADEA and IHRA only by sending

written notice of such revocation addressed to the Company’s General Counsel within eight days of this Agreement’s

execution.     

20.  If the Employee breaches any material provision of this Agreement or pursues a claim against the Company or any

Associated Company arising out of his employment or its termination, notwithstanding the provisions of the Agreement, he

acknowledges and agrees to repay to the Company a sum equivalent to the payments paid pursuant to clause 6 (after

deduction of all tax and any National Insurance contributions due) and that such sum is recoverable from him by the

Company as a debt and that the Company shall be released from any continuing obligations under this Agreement.

21.      The Employee warrants that he has not at the date of this Agreement obtained employment or entered into a contract for

services or a consultancy agreement with any person, firm or company.

22.  The Employee understand that payments under this Agreement are taxable income to him. The Employee understands that

he shall be solely responsible for all taxes that result from his receipt of the payments to be provided under this Agreement.

Neither the Company nor any of its affiliates or subsidiaries makes or has made any representation, warranty or guarantee

of any federal, state, local or foreign tax consequences to the Employee of his receipt of any payment under this Agreement.

The Company will withhold all legally-required U.S. federal, state and local tax withholdings from amounts payable under this

Agreement. The Employee agrees to indemnify the Company against any claim for tax or employee’s National Insurance

payments together with any interest or penalties thereon made by any relevant statutory authority and to which the Company

is assessed in respect of the Employee in relation to any of the payments or benefits received under the terms of this

Agreement. The Company shall give the Employee reasonable notice of any demand for tax which may lead to liabilities on

the Employee under this indemnity and shall provide the Employee with reasonable access to any documentation you may

reasonably require to dispute such a claim (provided that nothing in this clause shall prevent the Company from complying

with its legal obligations with regard to HM Revenue and Customs or other competent body). All payments under



this Agreement are intended as separate payments and each installment payment is a separate payment.

23.      The Employee acknowledges that he has, and will continue to abide by, a continuing duty not to disclose (unless required

by law) or misuse confidential information concerning the Company or any Associated Company that came into his

possession whilst in its employment.

24.      The Employee warrants that he will return all Company property in his possession or under his control including but not

limited to all laptops, mobile telephones, keys, security cards, cars, fuel cards, credit cards, books, documents, papers,

materials, computer discs and software and any copies thereof (whether in human readable or machine readable form) on or

before the Termination Date.

25.      For the avoidance of any doubt, the post-termination obligations contained within the Employee’s contract of employment

and Annex A of the Walgreens Boots Alliance 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

26.  The Employee confirms that, before signing this Agreement, he received relevant independent advice from a relevant

independent adviser, namely Ivor Adair of Fox & Partners Solicitors LLP, 4-6 Throgmorton Avenue, London, EC2N 2DL as to

the terms and effect of this Agreement and in particular its effect on his ability to pursue claims before an Employment

Tribunal. By signing the Advisers certificate annexed to this Agreement, Ivor Adair acknowledges that at the time of advising

the Employee there was in force a policy of insurance covering a risk of a claim by the Employee in respect of loss arising

consequent to that advice.

27.  On or shortly after the Termination Date, the Employee shall sign and date the Reaffirmation Letter and shall ensure that the

Adviser (or another relevant independent adviser) signs and dates a letter in the form set out in Schedule D. The Company’s

obligations under this agreement (except under Clause 1) are conditional on the Company receiving the letters referred to in

this clause duly signed and dated within 21 days of the Termination Date.

28.  The Employee agrees that he will provide reasonable assistance to the Company (or any group company, including

Walgreen's Boots Alliance Inc. "WBA" and Walgreen Co.) or its advisers in any litigation in which he is named as a

Defendant or in which the company's legal advisers otherwise seek his assistance. The Company shall give reasonable

notice of a request for such assistance. In such event, the Company shall pay the Employee a daily rate of £4,853.31 for the

time spent, provided that the time required on each occasion is approved in advance by the Company (such approval not to

be unreasonably withheld, delayed or



conditioned). If such approval is unreasonably withheld, the employee shall have no obligation to provide assistance on that

occasion. These payments shall be subject to such deductions for income tax and employee’s National Insurance

contributions and such other tax withholdings as the Company is required to make by law. The Employee will be responsible

for any further tax or National Insurance contributions due in respect of these payments. The Company will also reimburse

any reasonable expenses (and/or loss of remuneration above the daily rate noted above) that the Employee incurs as a

consequence of the Employee’s assistance, provided that such expenses are approved in writing in advance by the

Company. To the extent that it is lawfully able to do so and to the extent consistent with the Company’s bylaws the Company

will also pay any reasonable professional (including without limitation, legal and accounting) costs and expenses properly

incurred by the Employee after the Termination Date which arise from the Employee having to defend, or appear in, any

administrative, regulatory, judicial or quasi-judicial proceedings as a result of the lawful performance of his duties with the

Company, provided that such expenses are approved in writing in advance by the Company.

29.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Employee will be eligible to continue to benefit from WBA's officer indemnity coverage as

well as WBA's D&O Insurance in place from time to time in connection with his role and activities described above, in

accordance with the terms of the said indemnity coverage and D&O insurance. The Company agrees that as long as there is

a policy of D&O Insurance in effect for existing directors and/officers of the Company, that this policy will be applied to the

Employee

30.  The Company shall continue to provide the Employee and the Employee’s spouse with private medical benefit, subject to

the rules of the relevant benefit scheme in force from time to time, until the end of the policy year ending in 2022. The

Employee shall be responsible for any further tax and employee's National Insurance contributions due in respect of these

benefits.

31.  The Company will support the Employee’s relocation back to the UK pursuant to the terms of the Employee’s Assignment

Agreement.

32.  The Company will engage Weichert to manage the sale of the Employee’s home at 607 Longwood Avenue, Glencoe, IL

60022 (the “Property”). The Employee shall use his reasonable endeavours to work with Weichert in order to sell the

Property and this includes the Employee accepting a commercially reasonable offer for the Property consistent with an

independent professional appraisal of its value. In the event that the Employee has not sold the Property by the Termination

Date, the



Company agrees within 30 days to purchase the Property for $8 million, being the purchase price, the Employee paid for the

Property in 2013 and make the payment of $8 million to the Employee by no later than 30 days of the date of purchase. The

payment shall be subject to deductions for income tax and National Insurance contributions and such other tax withholdings

as the Company is required to make by law. The Company will pay reasonable legal fees necessary to effect the sale of the

Property, provided that such fees are approved in writing in advance by the Company.

33.  The conditions regulating compromise and/or settlement agreements contained in section 203 of the Employment Rights

Act 1996, section 77 of the Sex Discrimination Act 1975, section 72 of the Race Relations Act 1976, section 9 of the

Disability Discrimination Act 1995, section 288 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 and

Regulation 35 of the Working Time Regulations 1998, Part 1 of Schedule 4 of the Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation)

Regulations 2003, Part 1 of Schedule 4 of the Employment Equality (Religion or Belief) Regulations 2003, Part 1 of

Schedule 5 of the Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 and section 147 of the Equality Act 2010 are satisfied in

relation to this Agreement.

34.      The Company agrees to pay direct to Fox & Partners LLP Solicitors LLP within 28 days of receipt of an invoice a

contribution of up to £1,000 (plus VAT) towards the cost of the Employee taking relevant independent advice on the terms

and effect of this Agreement.

35.      In this Agreement “Associated Company” means Alliance Boots Holdings Limited and its holding companies and

subsidiaries and the subsidiaries of any such holding companies from time to time.

36.      Notwithstanding that this Agreement is headed “Without Prejudice and Subject to Contract”, it will once signed by all the

parties and dated be regarded as an open and binding agreement.

37.  This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or formation (including

non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of England and Wales.

38.  Each party irrevocably agrees that the courts of England and Wales shall have exclusive  jurisdiction to settle any dispute or

claim arising out of or in connection with this agreement or its subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes

or claims).



EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE:    /s/ Alex Gourlay
                    ______________________________

ALEX GOURLAY

COMPANY SIGNATURE:    /s/ Frank Standish
                    ______________________________

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY



ADVISER'S CERTIFICATE

I, Ivor Adair of Fox & Partners LLP, 4-6 Throgmorton Avenue, London, EC2N 2DL confirm that I have given independent legal

advice to Alex Gourlay as to the terms and effect of the Agreement, a copy of which is annexed hereto, and in particular as to its

effect on his ability to pursue his rights before an Employment Tribunal.

I confirm that I am a Solicitor-Advocate of the Senior Courts holding a current practising certificate and that there is and was at the

time I gave the advice referred to above in force a contract of insurance or an indemnity provided for members of a profession or

professional body covering the risk of a claim by Alex Gourlay in respect of any loss arising in consequence of that advice.

ADVISER SIGNATURE:     /s/ Ivor Adair
                    ______________________________

IVOR ADAIR



SCHEDULE A

DRAFT REFERENCE

Name
Address

Dear

Further to your letter dated ........................................... I can confirm the following details regarding:

Employee's name:         Alex Gourlay

Date of joining:             [ ]

Date of leaving:             31 December 2021

Nature of position held:     Co-Chief Operating Officer

The information above has been given in good faith, with care being taken to ensure accuracy. The Company does not accept
liability for errors or omissions.

Yours sincerely



Schedule B



Schedule C

Reaffirmation Letter

[NAME]

[DATE]

Dear

Reaffirmation Letter

I am writing in connection with the settlement agreement between WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE SERVICES LIMITED
(Company) and you dated [DATE]] (Agreement). This is the Reaffirmation Letter referred in the Agreement.

Defined terms have the same meaning when used in this Reaffirmation Letter as in the Agreement.

In consideration of the Company paying the Termination Payment to you in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, you
expressly agree the following:

i. You agree that the terms of the Agreement are offered by the Company without any admission of liability on the part of the
Company and are in full and final settlement of all and any claims or rights of action that you have or may have against the
Company or any Associated Company or its officers, employees or workers whether arising out of your employment with the
Company or its termination or from events occurring after the Agreement was entered into, whether under common law,
contract, statute or otherwise, whether such claims are, or could be, known to or in the contemplation of the Company or you
at the date of this Reaffirmation Letter in any jurisdiction and including, but not limited to, the claims specified in the Agreement
(each of which is waived by this clause).

i. This waiver shall not affect any claim by you for breach of the Agreement, for damages for personal injury or accrued rights
under any pension scheme (except where any such claim relates to or arises out of age, sex, race, disability, sexual
orientation, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or maternity, gender re-assignment, religion or belief discrimination; or any
claim relating to the circumstances and/or manner of the termination of your employment) although you warrant that as at the
date of this Reaffirmation Letter than you are not aware of any circumstances which could give rise to such a claim.

i. You warrant that:

1. before entering into this Reaffirmation Letter you received independent advice from Ivor Adair of Fox & Partners
Solicitors LLP (the Adviser) as to the terms and effect of this Reaffirmation Letter and, in particular, on its effect on
your ability to pursue the claims specified the Agreement;

2. the Adviser has confirmed to you that they are a solicitor-advocate holding a current practising certificate and that
there is in force a policy of insurance



covering the risk of a claim by you in respect of any loss arising in consequence of their advice;

3. the Adviser shall sign and deliver to the Company a letter in the form attached as Schedule E to the Agreement.

You acknowledge that the Company acted in reliance on these warranties when entering into this Reaffirmation Letter.

v. You acknowledge that the conditions regulating compromise and/or settlement agreements contained in section 203 of the
Employment Rights Act 1996, section 77 of the Sex Discrimination Act 1975, section 72 of the Race Relations Act 1976,
section 9 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995, section 288 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act
1992 and Regulation 35 of the Working Time Regulations 1998, Part 1 of Schedule 4 of the Employment Equality (Sexual
Orientation) Regulations 2003, Part 1 of Schedule 4 of the Employment Equality (Religion or Belief) Regulations 2003, Part 1
of Schedule 5 of the Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 and section 147 of the Equality Act 2010 are satisfied in
relation to this Reaffirmation Letter.

COMPANY SIGNATURE:    ................................................................................
FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

I agree to the above terms

EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE:    ................................................................................
                    ALEX GOURLAY

Date……………………………………………………



Schedule D

Reaffirmation Letter – Adviser Certificate

I, Ivor Adair of Fox & Partners LLP, 4-6 Throgmorton Avenue, London, EC2N 2DLconfirm that I have given independent legal

advice to Alex Gourlay as to the terms and effect of the Reaffirmation Letter, a copy of which is annexed hereto, and in particular

as to its effect on his ability to pursue his rights before an Employment Tribunal.

I confirm that I am a Solicitor-Advocate of the Senior Courts holding a current practising certificate and that there is and was at the

time I gave the advice referred to above in force a contract of insurance or an indemnity provided for members of a profession or

professional body covering the risk of a claim by Alex Gourlay in respect of any loss arising in consequence of that advice.

ADVISER SIGNATURE:     ................................................................................
Ivor Adair



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Rosalind G. Brewer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements

made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over

financial reporting.
/s/ Rosalind G. Brewer Chief Executive Officer Date: July 1, 2021
 Rosalind G. Brewer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, James Kehoe, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements

made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over

financial reporting.
/s/ James Kehoe Global Chief Financial Officer Date: July 1, 2021
 James Kehoe



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31,
2021 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Rosalind G. Brewer, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Rosalind G. Brewer
Rosalind G. Brewer
Chief Executive Officer
Dated:  July 1, 2021

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. and will be retained by Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31,
2021 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, James Kehoe, Global Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ James Kehoe
James Kehoe
Global Chief Financial Officer
Dated:  July 1, 2021

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. and will be retained by Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


